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BOARD'S REPORT

To the Members of Inter State Oil Carrier Limited (“the Company”), 
stYour Board of Directors (“the Board”) have pleasure in presen�ng Board's Report as a part of the 41  Annual Report 

of the Company along with the Audited Financial Statement of the Company and the Auditor's Report thereon for 
st  the financial year ended 31 March, 2025.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Summary of Financial Results for the financial year 2024-25 as compared to previous financial year is as follows: 

Par�culars       

Revenue from Opera�ons (Turnover) 8,814.82 8,473.59

Other Income 41.42 51.12

Total Income 8,856.24 8,524.71

Profit before Deprecia�on, Interest and Tax (PBDIT) 763.02 745.41

Deprecia�on and Amor�sa�on 433.34 407.30

Finance Cost 173.78 172.52

Profit before Tax 155.90 165.59

Less:   Provision for Taxa�on: -

        Current year Tax 24.62 30.94

        Deferred Tax & Earlier Year Tax 16.86 48.41

Profit for the year a�er Tax 114.42 86.24

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year, Net of Tax (0.39) (0.10)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 114.03 86.14

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Share Capital 499.23 499.23

Reserves and Surplus 1,431.91 1,317.88

Net Worth 1,931.14 1,817.11

Fixed Assets 2,880.50 2,074.80

Book Value Per Share (₹) 38.68 36.40

Note: The above figures are extracted from the audited financial statements of the Company as per the Indian 
Accoun�ng Standards (Ind AS).

DIVIDEND
With a view to conserve resources for future opera�ons and growth the Board has not recommended any dividend 
for FY 2024-25.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES
The closing balance of the retained earnings of the Company for FY 2024-25, a�er all appropria�on and adjustments 
was ₹1,431.91 lakhs. During the year under review, the Company has not transferred any amount to General 
Reserves.
For further details regarding transfer to other reserves, please refer to Note No. 14 of the Financial Statements for 
the year, which are self-explanatory.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
stDuring the financial year ended 31  March 2025, the Company achieved a revenue of ₹8,814.82 Lakhs, represen�ng 

a 4.03% growth over the previous year's revenue of ₹8,473.59 Lakhs in FY 2023-24. The Profit A�er Tax (PAT) for the 
current financial year stood at ₹114.03 Lakhs, an increase of 32.38% compared to ₹86.14 Lakhs in the preceding 
financial year, reflec�ng the Company's con�nued focus on improving opera�onal efficiencies and delivering value 
to its stakeholders.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The outlook for the logis�cs and transporta�on industry remains highly promising, driven by sustained growth 
across key sectors such as e-commerce, manufacturing, and infrastructure. Rising demand for integrated and 
technology-driven logis�cs solu�ons presents significant opportuni�es for companies that can adapt quickly and 
efficiently.

Your Company is strategically posi�oned to leverage these growth trends with ongoing investments in infrastructure, 
a strong focus on automa�on, and adop�on of data analy�cs and digital pla�orms to enhance efficiency and 
customer sa�sfac�on. Furthermore, the industry's increasing emphasis on sustainability—through the deployment 
of electric vehicles and eco-friendly prac�ces—aligns closely with the Company's long-term commitment to 
environmental responsibility.

As we look to the future, we remain focused on scaling opera�ons, driving innova�on, and providing customer-
centric solu�ons that cater to evolving business needs. With these strategic ini�a�ves in place, your directors are 
confident that the Company will achieve sustained growth and con�nue to create long-term value for all 
stakeholders.

CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY

During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of the business of your Company.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE & CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL 
The Authorised Share Capital of the Company is ₹5,30,00,000 comprising 53,00,000 Equity Shares of ₹10/- each as 

st on 31 March, 2025. The paid-up share capital of the Company stands at ₹4,99,23,000 comprising of 49,92,300 
st Equity Shares of ₹10/- each as on 31  March, 2025. 

During the year under review, there was no change in the capital of the Company. Further, the Company has not 
issued any sweat equity shares or bonus shares or equity shares with differen�al rights as to dividend, vo�ng or 
otherwise.

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMPs)

Composi�on of the Board

The Company's policy is to have an appropriate mix of Execu�ves and Non-Execu�ve/Independent Directors to 
stmaintain the independence of the Board. As on 31  March, 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company comprised 

of 5 (five) Directors, viz. 3 (three) Non-Execu�ve/Independent Directors including a Woman Director and 2 (two) 
Execu�ve Directors. The profile of all the Directors can be accessed on the Company's website at 
h�ps://isocl.in/board-of-directors/ 

None of the Directors of the Company have incurred any disqualifica�on under Sec�on 164(1) & 164(2) of the Act. 
Further, all the Directors have confirmed that they are not debarred from accessing the capital market as well as from 
holding the office of Director pursuant to any order of Securi�es and Exchange Board of India or Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs or any other such regulatory authority.

Director liable to Re�re by Rota�on 
In accordance with the provisions of Sec�on 152(6)(d) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies 
(Appointment and Qualifica�on of Directors) Rules, 2014 and Ar�cles of Associa�on of the Company, Mr. Siddhant 
Jain (DIN: 07154500), Whole-Time Director of the Company, who re�res by rota�on and being eligible, offers himself 
for re-appointment. 

Re-appointment of Managing Director
thMr. Sanjay Jain (DIN: 00167765) was appointed as Managing Director of the Company by the shareholders in the 38  

st stAnnual General Mee�ng for a period of three (3) years, commencing from 01  September 2022 and ending on 31  
August 2025. Based on the recommenda�on of the Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee and Audit Commi�ee 

th thin their mee�ng held on 24  May, 2025, the Board at its mee�ng held on 24  May, 2025 has recommended the re-
appointment of Mr. Sanjay Jain as the Managing Director of the Company for a further period of 3 (Three) years with 

st steffect from 01  September, 2025 to 31  August, 2028 , subject to the approval of members at the ensuing Annual 
General Mee�ng and on the terms and condi�ons and remunera�on as mutually agreed between the Company and 
Mr. Sanjay Jain.

https://isocl.in/about-us/
https://isocl.in/about-us/
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Appointment 
Pursuant to the recommenda�on of the Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee ('NRC') in their mee�ng held on 

th10  February, 2025, the Board of Directors appointed Mrs. Parul Khanna (DIN: 10898720) as an Addi�onal Director in 
stthe category of Non-Execu�ve/Non-Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1  April, 2025, in 

accordance with the Ar�cles of Associa�on and Sec�on 161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. She shall hold office up to 
the date of the forthcoming Annual General Mee�ng. A no�ce under Sec�on 160(1) of the Act, has been received 
from a Member signifying his inten�on to propose her appointment as Director. 

Independent Directors 
stIn terms of Sec�on 149 of the Companies Act, 2013, as on 31  March, 2025, your company had following 

Independent Directors:

l Mrs. Pooja Sarda*, 

l Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�er,

l Mr. Sunil Shah.

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent 
stDirector w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies 

Act, 2013.

Declara�on by Independent Directors

During the financial year 2024-25, the Company has received declara�ons from all Independent Directors confirming 
that they meet the criteria of independence as prescribed under the provisions of Sec�on 149 (6) of the Act read with 
the Schedule and Rules issued thereunder as well as Regula�on 16 of the Lis�ng Regula�ons (including any statutory 
modifica�on(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the �me being in force). There has been no change in the 
circumstances affec�ng their status as Independent Directors of the Company. Further, all Independent Directors of 
the Company have registered their names in the Independent Directors' Data Bank.

The Independent Directors have complied with the Code for Independent Directors prescribed in Schedule IV to the 
Act along with the Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management Personnel formulated by the Company as 
per Lis�ng Regula�ons.

Key Managerial Personnel (KMPs)

Pursuant to the provisions of Sec�ons 2(51) and 203 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Companies 
(Appointment and Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014. 

stAs on 31  March, 2025, your company has following KMPs:

*Mr. Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500) has been appointed as Addi�onal Director (Execu�ve / Whole Time Director) by 
ndthe Board of Director in their mee�ng held on 02  May, 2024 and further, the appointment been approved by the 

thshareholders of the Company by passing special resolu�on at the 40 Annual General Mee�ng of the Company held 
th nd ston 19  September, 2024 for a period of three years from 02  May, 2024 to 01  May, 2027.

BOARD MEETINGS
During the year under review, eight (8) Board Mee�ngs were held. The gap between any two consecu�ve mee�ngs 
did not exceed one hundred and twenty (120) days, in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and applicable Secretarial Standards. The requisite quorum was present at all the mee�ngs, ensuring valid and 
effec�ve proceedings.

The details of the Board Mee�ngs held during the year, along with the a�endance of each Director, are provided in 
the table below:

Sl. No. Name of KMPs Designa�on

 1. Mr. Sanjay Jain Managing Director

 2. Mr. Siddhant Jain* Whole-Time Director

 3. Mr. Malay Das Chief Financial Officer

 4. Ms. Rashmi Sharma Company Secretary & Compliance Officer



*  Mr. Shan� Lal Jain (DIN: 00167773) resigned from the posi�on of Execu�ve / Whole Time Director and also as the 
thdirector of the Company with effect from close of business hours on 30  April, 2024.

**Mr. Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500) has been appointed as Addi�onal Director (Execu�ve / Whole Time Director) by 
ndthe Board of Director in their mee�ng held on 02  May, 2024 and further, the appointment been approved by the 

thshareholders of the Company by passing special resolu�on at the 40 Annual General Mee�ng of the Company 
th nd stheld on 19  September, 2024 for a period of three years from 02  May, 2024 to 01  May, 2027.

BOARD SKILLS, EXPERTISE OR COMPETENCIES 
The Board of Directors of the Company is highly structured to ensure high degree of diversity by age, qualifica�on, 
professional background, sector exper�se and special skills. 
The Board of Directors have, based on the recommenda�on of Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee, iden�fied 
the following core skills/exper�se/competencies of Directors, as required in the context of Company's business:

a.  Opera�ons
b.  Finance
c.  Accounts
d.  Marke�ng
e.  Management

stThe following are the details of respec�ve core skills of Board Members as on 31  March, 2025. 

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent 
stDirector w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies 

Act, 2013.
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Name of
Director(s)

Mr. Shan� Lal 
Jain*

Mr. Sanjay Jain Mr. Siddhant
Jain**

Mrs. Pooja
Sarda 

Mr. Sunil
Shah

Mr. Nand
Kumar bha�er

Category Promoter and Promoter and Promoter and Independent/ Independent/ Independent/
 Chairman  Managing  Whole-Time Non-Executive Non-Executive Non-Executive
  Director  Director Director Director Director
DIN 00167773 00167765 07154500 05344423 00606846 00013918
Board 
Meetings
Attended 
15.04.2024 No Yes NA Yes Yes Yes
02.05.2024 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
23.05.2024 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
15.07.2024 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
09.08.2024 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
14.11.2024 NA Yes No Yes Yes Yes
10.02.2025 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
15.03.2025 NA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Name of Director(s)       DIN              Category         Core Skills

Mr. Sanjay Jain 00167765 Managing Director l Marke�ng

    l Opera�ons

Mr. Siddhant Jain 07154500 Whole Time Director l Marke�ng

    l Opera�ons

Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�er 00013918 Non-Execu�ve/ l Management

   Independent Director l Accounts

Mrs. Pooja Sarda* 05344423 Non-Execu�ve/ l Management

   Independent Director l Accounts

Mr. Sunil Shah 00606846 Non-Execu�ve/ l Finance

   Independent Director l Accounts
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PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF THE BOARD, ITS COMMITTEES AND THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Lis�ng Regula�ons and Nomina�on and Remunera�on Policy of the 
Company, the Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee (“NRC”) and the Board has carried out the annual 
performance evalua�on of the Board, its Commi�ees and individual Directors by way of individual and collec�ve 
feedback from Directors. The Independent Directors have also carried out annual performance evalua�on of the 
Chairperson, the non-independent directors and the Board as a whole.

Performance Evalua�on forms containing criteria for evalua�on of Board as a whole, Commi�ees of the Board and 
Individual Directors and Chairman of the mee�ng were sent to all the Directors with a request to provide their 
feedback to the Company on the Annual Performance Evalua�on of Board as a whole, Commi�ees of Board, 
Individual Directors & Chairman of the mee�ng for the Financial Year 2024-25. The Directors expressed their 
sa�sfac�on with the evalua�on process.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Sec�on 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of Directors, to the best of their knowledge and 
ability, confirm:

a. In the prepara�on of the annual accounts, the applicable accoun�ng standards have been followed along with 
proper explana�on rela�ng to material departure, if any;

b. That such Accoun�ng Policies have been selected and applied by them consistently and made judgments and 
es�mates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the end of the Financial Year and of the Profit and Loss of the Company for that period;

c. That proper and sufficient care has been taken by them for the maintenance of adequate accoun�ng records in 
accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preven�ng and 
detec�ng fraud and other irregulari�es;

d. That the Annual Accounts have been prepared by them on a going concern basis;

e. That they have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that such internal 
financial controls are adequate and are opera�ng effec�vely; and

f. That they have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that 
such systems were adequate and opera�ng effec�vely. 

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

There are no material changes and commitments affec�ng the financial posi�on of the Company which have 
occurred between the end of the financial year of the Company to which the financial statement relates and �ll the 
date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS, COURTS AND TRIBUNALS, STATUTORY AND 
QUASI-JUDICIAL BODY

No significant and material order has been passed by the regulators, courts and tribunals, statutory and quasi-
judicial body impac�ng the going concern status and the Company's opera�ons in future.

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company like any other enterprise is exposed to business risk which can be internal risks as well as external risks. 
Any unexpected changes in regulatory framework pertaining to fiscal benefits and other related issues can affect our 
opera�ons and profitability. A key factor in determining a Company's capacity to create sustainable value is the 
ability and willingness of the Company to take risks and manage them effec�vely and efficiently. However, the 
Company is well aware of the above risks and as part of business strategy has put in a mechanism to ensure that they 
are mi�gated with �mely ac�on. The details of the Risk Management Policy are available on the Company's website 

and can be accessed through the link: .h�ps://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposit falling within the purview of provisions of Sec�on 73 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposit) Rules, 2014 during the year under review. 

https://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/
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LISTING ON STOCK EXCHANGES
st There were 49,92,300 equity shares of the Company as on 31 March 2025. The Equity Shares of your Company is 

listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd (BSE), Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street, Mumbai-400 001 and the 
code is 530259. The lis�ng fee for the FY 2025-26, has been paid.

REGISTRAR AND SHARE TRANSFER AGENT FOR PHYSICAL AND DEMAT SEGMENTS (RTA) 

The Company con�nued appointment of M/s. Maheshwari Datama�cs Private Limited, Phone : +91 33 2248 2248, e-

mail:  as the Registrar and Share Transfer Agents of the Company.mdpldc@yahoo.com

CORPORATE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (CIN) 

The Company is registered with the Registrar of Companies, Kolkata, West Bengal. The Corporate Iden�ty Number 
(CIN) allo�ed to the Company by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) is L15142WB1984PLC037472.

DEMATERIALIZATION OF SHARES 
stThere were 49,92,300 equity shares of the Company as on 31  March 2025, out of the 49,92,300 equity shares of the 

Company 46,69,917 shares were held in electronic form represen�ng 93.54% of the total paid-up share capital, 
whereas balance of 3,22,383 shares was held in physical form represen�ng 6.46% of the total paid up share capital of 
the Company. The Equity Shares of the Company are registered with Na�onal Securi�es Depository Ltd. (NSDL) and 
Central Depository Services (India) Ltd. (CDSL) for having the facility of Dematerializa�on of shares and its ISIN NO. is 
INE003B01014. The Company's equity shares are compulsorily required to be traded in dematerialised form, 
therefore, Members are advised to speed up conver�ng the physical shareholding into dematerialised form through 
their DP(s).

ANNUAL RETURN

Pursuant to Sec�on 92(3) and Sec�on 134(3) (a) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 12 of the Companies 
st(Management and Administra�on) Rules, 2014, the Annual Return as on 31  March, 2025 can be accessed on the 

Company's website at: h�ps://isocl.in/annual-return-as-provided-under-sec�on-92-of-the-companies-
act-2013/.

The annual return uploaded on the website is a dra� in nature and the final annual return shall be uploaded on the 
website of the Company once the same is filed with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs a�er the AGM.

AUDITORS AND AUDITORS' REPORT

a) Statutory Auditors and Statutory Auditors' Report

 In compliance with Sec�on 139 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules made thereunder, M/s. Patni & Co. 
(ICAI Firm Registra�on Number 320304E), Chartered Accountants, were appointed as the Statutory Auditor of 

th ththe Company, for a first term of 5 (five) consecu�ve years at the 38 Annual General Mee�ng (AGM) held on 20  
rdSeptember, 2022, to hold office from the conclusion of the said mee�ng �ll the conclusion of the 43  AGM to be 

held in the year 2027. The Statutory Auditor's Report issued by M/s. Patni & Co., Chartered Accountants, on the 
st financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended on 31 March, 2025 forms part of this Annual 

Report. There are no reserva�ons, qualifica�ons or adverse remarks in the Independent Auditor's Report. The 
notes forming part of the accounts are self-explanatory and do not call for any further clarifica�ons under 
Sec�on 134 (3)(f) of the Act.

b) Secretarial Auditors and Secretarial Audit Report 

 Pursuant to the provisions of Sec�on 204 of the Act, read with Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company had appointed 
M/s. Rantu Das & Associates, Prac�cing Company Secretaries, to conduct Secretarial Audit of the Company. 

 The Secretarial Audit Report given by M/s. Rantu Das & Associates, Prac�cing Company Secretaries in Form No. 
MR-3 is annexed to this Report as 'Annexure – I'. 

 The Company does not have any material subsidiary company and hence the provisions of Secretarial Audit for 
material unlisted company, as no�fied by SEBI Circular No. CIR/CFD/CMD1/27/2019 dated 08.02.2019, vide 
which Regula�on 24A of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements), Regula�ons, 2015 was 
amended, is not applicable to your Company.

 In compliance with the provisions of Sec�on 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Secretarial Auditor in their 

mdpldc@yahoo.com%20
https://isocl.in/annual-return-as-provided-under-section-92-of-the-companies-act-2013/%20
https://isocl.in/annual-return-as-provided-under-section-92-of-the-companies-act-2013/%20
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streport for the financial year ended on the 31  March, 2025, made the following observa�ons:

 Observa�on 1: As per the charge list in MCA site, there are two charges for which loan has been repaid, but no 
sa�sfac�on of charges has been filed to ROC, although the Management has taken con�nuous ac�on for 
sa�sfying the same.

 Explana�on: The Company is con�nuously following up with the charge holders for No-objec�on le�er for 
sa�sfac�on of charge. The company shall file the form for sa�sfac�on of charge as soon as no-objec�on le�er is 
received from the charge holder.

 The requirement of Annual Secretarial Compliance Audit under Regula�on 24A of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015 read with SEBI Circular No.: CIR/CFD/CMD1/27/2019 dated 
08.02.2019 was not applicable to the Company during the year under review.

c) Internal Auditor

 In accordance with the provisions of Sec�on 138 of the Act read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, 
Mr. Sudhir Kumar Jha conducted the Internal Audit of the Company for the FY 2024-25. The Audit Commi�ee 
considers and reviews the Internal Audit Report submi�ed by the Internal Auditor on a quarterly basis. 

COST AUDIT AND MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS 

The provisions of Sec�on 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, with respect to maintenance of Cost Records and Cost 
Audit are not applicable on the Company.

DETAILS IN RESPECT OF FRAUDS REPORTED BY AUDITORS OTHER THAN THOSE WHICH ARE REPORTABLE TO THE 
CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

During the year under review, the Statutory Auditors and Secretarial Auditors have not reported any instances of 
frauds commi�ed in the Company by its officers or employees, to the Audit Commi�ee or the Board of Directors 
under Sec�on 143 (12) of the Act, including rules made thereunder.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS GIVEN, GUARANTEES GIVEN AND INVESTMENTS MADE AND SECURITIES PROVIDED

The Company has complied with the provisions of Sec�on 186 of the Act in respect of investments made and 
guarantees provided during the year under review. The details of loans, guarantees and investments covered under 
the provisions of Sec�on 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 forms part of the notes to the Financial Statements for the 

styear ended 31  March, 2025.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND 
REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013.

The Company has zero tolerance for sexual harassment at workplace and has adopted a policy on preven�on, 
prohibi�on and redressal of sexual harassment at work place in line with the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of 
Women at Workplace (Preven�on, Prohibi�on and Redressal) Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder for preven�on 
and redressal of complaints of sexual harassment at workplace. The Company has formed Internal Complaints 
Commi�ee in compliance with the provisions of the said Act to redress complaints received regarding sexual 
harassment. All employees (permanent, contractual, temporary, trainees) are covered under this Policy.

The following is the summary of Sexual Harassment complaints received and disposed of during the year 2024-25:

FAMILIARISATION PROGRAMME FOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

All Board members of the Company are afforded every opportunity to familiarize themselves with the Company, its 
management, its opera�ons and above all, the Industry perspec�ve and issues. They are made to interact with senior 
management personnel and proac�vely provided with relevant news, views and updates on the Company and sector. 
All the informa�on/documents sought by them is/are also shared with them for enabling a good understanding of the 
Company, its various opera�ons and the industry of which it is a part. The details of the Familiarisa�on Programme for 

stNumber of complaints pending as on 1  April, 2024      Nil

Number of complaints received during the year      Nil

Number of complaints disposed off during the year      Nil
stNumber of complaints pending as on 31  March, 2025     Nil
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Independent Directors with the Company in respect of their roles, rights, responsibili�es in the Company, nature of the 
industry in which Company operates, business model of the Company and related ma�ers is available on the 

Company's website and can be accessed through the link: h�ps://isocl.in/familiariza�on-programmed-for-
independent-director/.

REMUNERATION TO DIRECTORS

A. Nomina�on & Remunera�on Policy

The policy is to have an appropriate mix of Execu�ves and Non-Execu�ves/Independent Directors to maintain the 
stindependence of the Board, and separate its func�ons of governance and management. As on 31  March, 2025, the 

Company has 2 (Two) Execu�ve Directors and 3 (Three) Non-Execu�ve Directors on the Board. The Company's Policy for 
selec�on and appointment of Directors and their remunera�on is based on its Nomina�on and Remunera�on policy 
which, inter alia, deals with the manner of selec�on of the Directors and such other ma�ers as provided under Sec�on 
178(3) of the Act and 19(4) of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015, including any 
amendment thereto are covered under the Company's Nomina�on and Remunera�on Policy and on the Company's 

website and can be accessed through the link: .h�ps://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/

Your Directors affirm that the remunera�on paid to the directors is as per the terms laid out in the Nomina�on and 
Remunera�on Policy of the Company.

There is no change in the Nomina�on and Remunera�on Policy of the Company during the financial year 2024-25.
st  B. Remunera�on to Non-Execu�ve/Independent Directors for the year ended 31 March, 2025. 

stThe si�ng fees paid to Non-Execu�ve/Independent Directors for the year ended 31  March, 2025 along with their 
respec�ve shareholdings in your Company are as under:

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent 
stDirector w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies Act, 

2013.

C. Remunera�on paid/payable to Execu�ve Chairman/Whole Time Director and Managing Director for the year 
st  ended 31 March, 2025.

Director(s) Designa�on Salary (` in
Lakhs)

Perquisites and
Allowances
(` in Lakhs)

Commission
paid/Payable
(` in Lakhs)

Total
(` in 

Lakhs)

Contract
Period

Tenure of 3 (Three) 
years from 01��
September 2022 to
31�� August, 2025.

Tenure of 3 (Three)
years from 02ⁿ�
May, 2024 to 01�� 
May, 2027

Mr. Shan� Lal Jain*

Mr. Sanjay Jain

Mr. Siddhant Jain

Whole Time
Director

Managing
Director

Whole Time
Director

1.59

34.08

11.72

0.12

5.55

2.20

Nil

Nil

Nil

1.71

39.63

13.92

Director(s) Si�ng Fees paid for the 
Board and Commi�ee 
Mee�ngs held during
the year ended 

st31  March, 2025 
(₹ in Lakhs)

Commission 

Paid/Payable

(₹ in Lakhs)

Total
(₹ in Lakhs)

No. of Ordinary 

(Equity) Shares held 

as on 31st March, 

2025

0.25

0.25

0.25

0.25

0.25

0.25

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Mrs. Pooja Sarda*

Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�er

Mr. Sunil Shah

https://isocl.in/familiarization-programmed-for-independent-director/
https://isocl.in/familiarization-programmed-for-independent-director/
https://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/
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a) The appointment and remunera�on of Mr. Shan� Lal Jain, Whole Time Director and Sanjay Jain, Managing 
Director of the Company has been approved by the shareholders of the Company by passing special resolu�on at 

th ththe 38 Annual General Mee�ng of the Company held on 20  September, 2022 for a period of three years.

b) *Mr. Shan� Lal Jain has resigned from the posi�on of Execu�ve / Whole-Time Director and also as the director of 
ththe Company with effect from close of business hours on 30 April, 2024.

c) The agreement may be terminated by either party by giving to the other party three months' no�ce of such 
termina�on. 

d) No Compensa�on shall be payable to either of the par�es on such termina�on.

e)  The Managing Director and Whole-Time Director shall not be paid any si�ng fees for the a�ending the mee�ng of 
the Board of Directors or Commi�ee.

f) Company's Contribu�on to Provident Funds for Mr. Sanjay Jain ₹2.34 Lakhs and Mr. Siddhant Jain was ₹0.66 Lakhs 
stfor the year ended 31  March, 2025.

g) The appointment and remunera�on of Mr. Siddhant Jain, Whole-Time Director of the Company has been 
thapproved by the shareholders of the Company by passing special resolu�on at the 40 Annual General Mee�ng of 

th nd stthe Company held on 19  September, 2024 for a period of three years from 02  May, 2024 to 01  May, 2027.

Notes:

1) The Company has not granted any stock op�on to directors of the company as on 31  March, 2025. st

2) No si�ng fees has been paid to the Execu�ve Director during the year under review. 

3) Non-Execu�ve/Independent Directors did not have any pecuniary rela�onship or transac�ons (except receipt of 
si�ng fees as Directors) with the Company for the year under review.

D. Stock op�on details, if any, and whether the same has been issued at a discount as well as the period over which 
accrued and over which exercisable – Not Applicable during the year under review

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company believes in and has prac�ced good Corporate Governance. Our corporate governance philosophy is 
based on the principles of equity, fairness, spirit of law, higher standards of transparency, accountability and reliability in 
respect of all its transac�ons. The Company believes that sound corporate governance is necessary to retain 
stakeholders' trust and ensures efficient working and proper conduct of the business of the Company with integrity. The 
guidelines for its development is a con�nuous process, which o�en undergoes changes to suit the changing �mes and 
needs of the business, society and the na�on.

It may be noted that Regula�on 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regula�on (2) of Regula�on 46 and para C, D and E 
of Schedule V of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements), Regula�ons, 2015 are not applicable to your 
company pursuant to provisions of Regula�on 15 of the said Regula�ons as the Paid up Capital of the Company is below 
Rupees Ten Crores and Net worth below Rupees Twenty Five Crores as on the last day of the previous Financial Year as 
well as on date of the report.

As such the Company is not required to mandatorily append to this report the Corporate Governance Report.  

CONSTITUTION OF VARIOUS COMMITTEES AS PER COMPANIES ACT, 2013

The company has cons�tuted sub-commi�ees of the board as per the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 with proper 
composi�on of its members. The Company Secretary of the Company acts as the Secretary to the Commi�ees.

Presently, there are Four Commi�ees: 

l  Audit Commi�ee 

l  Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee 

l  Stakeholders Rela�onship Commi�ee

l  Management Commi�ee



a. Audit Commi�ee: The Composi�on of the Commi�ee and a�endance in the Commi�ee mee�ngs held during the 
FY 2024-25 is given below: -

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent Director 
st

w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies Act, 2013.

b. Nomina�on and Remunera�on Commi�ee: The Composi�on of the Commi�ee and a�endance in the 
Commi�ee mee�ngs held during the FY 2024-25 is given below: -

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent Director 
st

w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies Act, 2013.

c. Stakeholders' Rela�onship Commi�ee: The Composi�on of the Commi�ee and a�endance in the Commi�ee 

mee�ngs held during the FY 2024-25 is given below: -

*Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423) has successfully completed her second term of Five (5) years as an Independent Director 
st

w.e.f. the close of business hours on 31  March, 2025 in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the Companies Act, 2013.
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Posi�on

Category

DIN

Commi�ee Mee�ngs
A�ended

Name of Director(s) Mrs. Pooja Sarda* Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�erMr. Sunil Shah

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

 Chairperson Member Member

 05344423 00606846 00013918

02.05.2024 Yes Yes Yes

23.05.2024 Yes Yes Yes

10.02.2025 Yes Yes Yes

Posi�on

Category

DIN

Commi�ee Mee�ngs
A�ended

Name of Director(s) Mrs. Pooja Sarda* Mr. Sanjay JainMr. Siddhant Jain

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

Execu�ve Director
(Whole Time)

Execu�ve Director
(Managing)

 Chairperson Member Member

 05344423 07154500 00167765

07.12.2024 Yes Yes Yes

18.03.2025 Yes No Yes

Posi�on

Category

DIN

Commi�ee Mee�ngs
A�ended

Name of Director(s) Mrs. Pooja Sarda* Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�erMr. Sunil Shah

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

Independent /  
Non-Execu�ve Director

 Chairperson Member Member

 05344423 00606846 00013918

15.04.2024 Yes Yes Yes

02.05.2024 Yes Yes Yes

23.05.2024 Yes Yes Yes

15.07.2024 Yes Yes Yes

09.08.2024 Yes Yes Yes

14.11.2024 Yes Yes Yes

10.02.2025 Yes Yes Yes

15.03.2025 Yes Yes Yes



d. Management Commi�ee: The Composi�on of the Commi�ee and a�endance in the Commi�ee mee�ngs held during 

the FY 2024-25 is given below: -

Stakeholders' Rela�onship Commi�ee-other details:

i)  Name, designa�on and address of Compliance Officer: Rashmi Sharma, Company Secretary. 113, Park Street, 
Poddar Point, South Wing, 5th Floor, Kolkata – 700016; E-mail: rashmi@isocl.in
 
ii) Details of investor complaints received and redressed during FY 2025 are as follows:

RECOMMENDATIONS OF VARIOUS COMMITTEES

There were no instances where the Board had not accepted the recommenda�ons of any of the Commi�ees of the 
Board during FY 2024-25.

SEPARATE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS' MEETING
thDuring the year under review, the Independent Directors met on 10  February, 2025 without the a�endance of Non-

Independent Directors and members of the Management, except the Company Secretary, who was present by 
invita�on. All Independent Directors were present at this Mee�ng.

ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

The Internal Financial Controls with reference to the Financial Statements are commensurate with the size and 
nature of business of the Company. Your Company has established adequate Internal Financial Control systems to 
ensure reliable financial repor�ng and compliance with laws and regula�ons. All resources are put to op�mal use 
and adequately protected against any loss. All transac�ons are authorized, recorded and reported correctly. Policies 
and guidelines of your Company are being adhered to and improvements in process efficiencies and effec�veness 
are being carried out on an ongoing basis. 

VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

Pursuant to the requirement of the Sec�on 177 (9) & (10) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has established 
vigil mechanism which also incorporates a whistle blower policy in terms of the SEBI Lis�ng Regula�ons. Protected 
disclosures can be made by a whistle blower through an e-mail or phone or le�er to the Chairperson of the Audit 
Commi�ee.  The Vigil Mechanism (Whistle Blower Policy) is available on the Company's website and can be accessed 
through the link: .h�ps://isocl.in/vigil-mechanism-whistle-blower-policy/

A mechanism has been established for employees to report unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud or 
viola�on of the Code of Conduct and ethics directly to the forum. It also provides for adequate safeguards against 
vic�miza�on of employees who avail the mechanism and allows direct access to the Chairperson of the Audit 
Commi�ee in excep�onal cases.
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Posi�on

Category

DIN

Commi�ee Mee�ngs
A�ended

Name of Director(s) Mr. Sanjay Jain Mr. Siddhant Jain

Execu�ve Director
(Whole Time)

Execu�ve Director
(Managing)

 Chairman Member Member

07154500

28.02.2025 Yes Yes Yes Yes

15.03.2025 Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Malay Das Ms. Rashmi
Sharma

Chief Financial
Officer

Company
Secretary

Member

00167765 — —

Opening as on
st1  April, 2024

Received during
the year

Closing as on
st31  March, 2025

0 0 0 0

Resolved during
the year

mailto:rashmi@isocl.in
https://isocl.in/vigil-mechanism-whistle-blower-policy/
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POLICIES

The SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015 mandated the formula�on of certain 
policies for all listed companies. All applicable policies are available on the Company's website and can be accessed 
through the link: . The policies are reviewed periodically by the Board and h�ps://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/
updated based on need and new compliance requirement.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

In accordance with Regula�on 34 read with Schedule V of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regula�ons, 2015 (hereina�er referred to as 'Lis�ng Regula�ons'), the Management's Discussion and Analysis 
Report for the year under review, has been enclosed separately and marked as “Annexure- II”. The Audit Commi�ee 
of the Company has reviewed the Management Discussion and Analysis Report of the Company for the year ended 

st31  March, 2025.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) 

The provision of Sec�on 135(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 i.e., corporate social responsibility is not applicable on 
your company. Therefore, your company has not cons�tuted CSR commi�ee and need not require to spend any sum 
on CSR ac�vi�es for the FY 2024-25. Hence no report on Corporate Social Responsibility is given.

MD & CFO CERTIFICATION

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company have given a cer�ficate as required under 
Regula�on 17(8) of the SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015. It forms part of the 
Report and is marked as “Annexure- III.”

PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Preven�on of Insider Trading as amended from �me to �me with a 
view to regulate trading in securi�es by the Directors and designated employees of the Company. The Code requires 
pre-clearance for dealing in the Company's shares and prohibits the purchase or sale of Company shares by the 
Directors and the designated employees while in possession of unpublished price sensi�ve informa�on in rela�on to 
the Company and during the period when the Trading Window is closed. The Board is responsible for 
implementa�on of the Code.

All Board of Directors and the designated employees have confirmed compliance with the Code.

CODE OF CONDUCT 

The Company has adopted the Code of Conduct for all Board members and Senior Management Personnel. All Board 
members and Senior Management Personnel as per Regula�on 26(3) of the SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015, have affirmed compliance with the applicable Code of Conduct. A declara�on to 
this effect signed by the Managing Director of the Company forms part of this Report and is marked as “Annexure- IV”.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

Your Company, being a Transport company, has no ac�vity rela�ng to conserva�on of energy or technology 
absorp�on to be declared pursuant to Sec�on 134 of the Companies Act, 2013. There is no earning or outgo of 
Foreign Exchange during the year under review.

CERTIFICATE FOR NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has obtained a cer�ficate from M/s. Rantu Das & Associates, Prac�cing Company Secretaries, 
confirming that none of the directors on the board of the Company were debarred or disqualified from being 
appointed or con�nuing as directors of Companies by the Board/Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such authority 
and the same forms part of this report and is marked as “Annexure- V”.

PARTICULARS OF REMUNERATION OF MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL AND EMPLOYEES AND RELATED DISCLOSURE

None of the employees, employed during the year, was in receipt of remunera�on, in aggregate of Rupees One Crore 
and Two Lakhs or more per annum for the FY 2024-25 or Rupees Eight Lakh Fi�y Thousand or more per month for any 
part of the financial year, as set out in the Companies (Appointment and Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules, 2014. The informa�on pursuant to Rules 5(2) and 5(3) of the Rules forms part of this report and is marked as  
“Annexure- VI”.

The ra�o of remunera�on of each Director to the median employee's remunera�on and other details in accordance 

https://isocl.in/code-of-conduct-policies/
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with sub-sec�on 12 of Sec�on 197 of the Act read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and Remunera�on 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, forms part of this report and is marked as “Annexure- VII”.

CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

All Related Party Transac�ons entered into by the Company during the financial year were in ordinary course of 
business and at an arm's length basis. Form AOC-2 forms part of the Report and is marked as “Annexure- VIII”.

Details of Related Party Transac�ons of the Company are covered under Notes to Accounts for FY 2024-25.

All transac�ons with related par�es were reviewed and approved by the Audit Commi�ee. Prior approval is obtained 
for related party transac�ons which are of repe��ve nature and entered in the ordinary course of business and on an 
arm's length basis. 

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

The Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report as per Regula�on 34 of SEBI Lis�ng Regula�ons is not 
applicable to the Company during the period under review. 

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECRETARIAL STANDARDS

The Company has complied with the applicable provisions of Secretarial Standards - 1 and Secretarial Standards - 2, 
issued by the Ins�tute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI).

GENERAL DISCLOSURES

Your directors state that:

1.  During the year under review, no applica�on has been made or any proceeding is pending under the Insolvency 
and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company.

2.  The Company serviced all the debts and financial commitments as and when they became due, and no 
se�lements were entered into with the bankers. Since the details of difference between amount of the valua�on 
done at the �me of one-�me se�lement and the valua�on done while taking loan from the Banks or Financial 
Ins�tu�ons along with the reasons thereof - Not Applicable.

3.  There are no agreements entered into by the shareholders, promoters, promoter group en��es, related par�es, 
directors, key managerial personnel, employees of the listed en�ty or of its holding, subsidiary or associate company, 
among themselves or with the listed en�ty or with a third party, solely or jointly, which, either directly or indirectly or 
poten�ally or whose purpose and effect is to, impact the management or control of the listed en�ty or impose any 
restric�on or create any liability upon the listed en�ty as on the date of no�fica�on of clause 5A to Para A of Part A of 
Schedule III of Lis�ng Regula�ons.

4.  Equity shares in the suspense account

In accordance with the requirement of Regula�on 34(3) and Part F of Schedule V to the SEBI Lis�ng Regula�ons, 
details of equity shares in the suspense account are as follows:

Aggregate number of shareholders and the  1 1000

Outstanding shares in the suspense account 
stlying as on 1  April, 2025

Shareholders who approached the Company 1 1000

for transfer of shares from suspense account

during the year

Shareholders to whom shares were  1 1000

transferred from the suspense account during

 the year

Aggregate number of shareholders and the  3 1200

outstanding shares in the suspense 
stAccount lying as on 31  March, 2025

Par�culars
Number of

Shareholders

Number of 
Equity Shares
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stThe vo�ng rights on the shares outstanding in the suspense account as on 31  March, 2025, shall remain frozen �ll 
the righ�ul owner of such shares claims the shares.

5.  The Company has not issued any GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any conver�ble instruments in the past and hence, as 
ston 31  March, 2025, the Company does not have any outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any conver�ble 

instruments.

6. The Company is not a Large Corporate for the purpose of SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HOIDDHS/DDHS-
thRACPOD1/P/CIR/2023/172 dated 19  October, 2023. The details of Outstanding Qualified Borrowings and 

stIncremental Qualified Borrowings for the FY ended 31  March, 2025.

7.  There have been no public issue proceeds raised from the Ini�al Public Offer (IPO) and Further Public Offer (FPO), 
Right Issue, Preferen�al Issue, etc. in the FY 2025.

8.  As of the repor�ng date, the company has no subsidiaries, associates, or joint ventures.

9.  The company is in compliance with the applicable provisions of Maternity Benefit Act, 1961.

GREEN INITIATIVES & ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

As a responsible corporate ci�zen, the Company supports the 'Green Ini�a�ve' undertaken by the Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs, Government of India, enabling electronic delivery of documents including the Annual Report etc. 
to Members at their e-mail address registered with the Depository Par�cipants (“DPs”) and RTAs. To support the 
'Green Ini�a�ve', Members who have not registered their email addresses are requested to register the same with 
the Company's Registrar and Share Transfer Agent (“RTAs”)/Depositories for receiving all communica�ons, including 

Annual Report, No�ces, Circulars, etc., from the Company electronically.

Pursuant to the MCA Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19 September 2024 and SEBI Circular dated 03 October 2024, the 
st  

Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ending 31 March 2025 including therein the Audited Financial 
Statements for the financial year 2024-25, will be sent only by email to the Members.

The Board of the Company wishes to place on record their sincere apprecia�on of the dedica�on and commitment of 
all employees in con�nuing their achievements and excellence in all areas of the business. The Board thanks the 
shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers, other stakeholders and various departments of the State Government 
and the Central Government for their con�nuous support to the Company.
 Your Board appreciates and values the contribu�on made by every member of the Inter State Oil Carrier family.

 

Sl No. Par�culars
Amount

(` in Crore)

1. Outstanding Qualified Borrowings at the start of the financial year 9.81

2. Outstanding Qualified Borrowings at the end of the financial year 15.89

3. Highest credit ra�ng of the company rela�ng to the unsupported bank

 borrowings or plain vanilla bonds, which have no structuring/support built in NA

4. Incremental borrowing done during the year (qualified borrowing) -

5. Borrowings by way of issuance of debt securi�es during the year -

Place: Kolkata                                            
th

Dated: The 11  Day of August, 2025

    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Siddhant Jain
Whole Time Director

    (DIN:07154500)

Sanjay Jain
Managing  Director

    (DIN:00167765)
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I

II

III

IV

V

VI

VII

VIII

Annexure Par�culars

Annexures forming part of this Report of the Directors

Secretarial Audit Report

Management's Discussion and Analysis Report

MD & CFO cer�fica�on

Declara�on regarding affirma�on of Code of Conduct

Cer�ficate of Non-Disqualifica�on of Directors

Statement pursuant to Sec�on 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(2) & (3) of
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ANNEXURE - I

FORM No. MR -3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
stFor Financial Year ended on 31  March, 2025

[Pursuant to sec�on 204 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members,

Interstate Oil Carrier Limited,

CIN: L15142WB1984PLC037472

Regd. Office: 113 Park Street, Poddar Point, 
thSouth Wing, 5  Floor, 

Kolkata-700016

We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and adherence to 
good corporate prac�ces by M/s. Interstate Oil Carrier Limited, (hereina�er referred to as “the Company”). The 
Secretarial Audit has been conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evalua�ng the corporate 
conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Company's Management responsibility

The Company's Management is responsible for prepara�on and maintenance of secretarial records and for devising 
proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and regula�ons.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the secretarial records, standards and procedures followed by the 
Company with respect to secretarial compliances.

We believe that audit evidence and informa�on obtained from the Company's Management is adequate and 
appropriate for us to provide a basis for our opinion.

Based on our verifica�on of the Company's books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company and also the informa�on provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized 
representa�ves during the conduct of secretarial audit, physically. 

We hereby report that in our opinion and to the best of our informa�on, knowledge and belief and according to the 
stexplana�ons given to us, the company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31  March, 

2025 generally complied with the applicable statutory provisions listed hereunder to the extent applicable and also 
that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and 
subject to the repor�ng made hereina�er:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the 
stCompany for the financial year ended on 31  March, 2025 according to the applicable provisions of:

1. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;

2. The Securi�es Contracts (Regula�on Act, 1956 ('SCRA') and the rules made thereunder;

3. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regula�ons and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

4. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regula�ons made thereunder to the extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment(FDI), Overseas Direct Investment(ODI) and External Commercial Borrowings(ECB);-
Not Applicable to the Company during the Audit Period

5. The following Regula�ons and Guidelines prescribed under the Securi�es and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 
('SEBI Act') to the extent applicable to the Company during the year:

 a) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Substan�al Acquisi�on of Shares and Takeovers) Regula�ons, 2011; 
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Registered Office:113 Park Street, Poddar Point,
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South Wing, 5  Floor,
Kolkata –700016                                                            

Dated : ……August, 2022
Place : Kolkata

By Order of the BoardFor and behalf of 
Inter State Oil Carrier Limited

Sd/-Nikita Mohta 
Company Secretary

(Membership No. A55639)

 b) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Prohibi�on of Insider Trading) Regula�ons, 2015; 

 c) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2018 - 
Not applicable during the year under review.

 d) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits & Sweat Equity) Regula�ons, 2021- 
Not applicable during the year under review.

 e) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Lis�ng of Non-Conver�ble Securi�es) Regula�ons, 2021 -   
Not applicable during the year under review.

 f) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regula�ons, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client - The Company has duly appointed a SEBI authorized 
Category I Registrar and Share Transfer Agent as required under Law.

 g) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Delis�ng of Equity Shares) Regula�ons, 2021- Not applicable 
during the year under review.

 h) The Securi�es and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securi�es) Regula�ons, 2018- Not applicable during 
the year under review and,

6. The following other laws specifically applicable to the Company:

 a) The Air (Preven�on and Control of Pollu�on) Act, 1981 and Rules made there under;

 b) The Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 and Rules made there under;

 c) Taxa�on Laws and Rules made there under namely:

  - Income Tax;

  - Goods & Service Tax;

  - Professional Tax;

  - Tax Deducted at Sources;

 d) The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965;

 e) The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972;

 f) The Employees Provident Fund & Miscellaneous Act, 1952; 

 g) The Employees State Insurance Act, 1948;

We have also examined compliance with applicable clauses of the following:

 I. Secretarial Standards issued by The Ins�tute of Company Secretaries of India with respect to board and 
general mee�ng.

 II. The Lis�ng Agreement entered into by the Company with the BSE Limited read with the Securi�es Exchange 
Board of India (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015 as amended (hereina�er 
referred to as SEBI LODR, 2015). 

  During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 
Regula�ons, Guidelines, Standards, etc. men�oned above subject to the following observa�ons:

 (i) As per the charge list in the MCA site, there are two charges for which loan has been repaid, but no 
sa�sfac�on of charges has been filed with the ROC, although the management has taken con�nuous ac�on 
for sa�sfying the same.

We further report that as far as we have been able to ascertain:

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly cons�tuted with proper balance of Execu�ve Directors, Non-Execu�ve 
Directors and Independent Directors, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and applicable 
SEBI regula�ons. 

During the financial year 2024–25, the following key changes occurred in the composi�on of the Board:

 l Shri Shan� Lal Jain (DIN: 00167773) tendered his resigna�on as Whole-Time Director of the Company with 
th

effect from 30  April 2024.

 l Shri Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500) was appointed as a Whole-Time Director of the Company with effect from 
nd

2  May 2024,
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 l Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423), Independent Director, completed her second term of five (5) years on the 
st

Board upon the close of business hours on 31  March 2025, in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

th
 l The Board of Directors, at its mee�ng held on 12  February 2025, has appointed Mrs. Parul Khanna (DIN: 

10898720) as an Addi�onal Director, designated as a Non-Execu�ve / Non-Independent Director, with effect 
st

from Tuesday, 1  April 2025. This appointment is made to ensure that the Board con�nues to maintain an 
appropriate and balanced composi�on of Directors, in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and applicable SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, following the 

st
comple�on of tenure of Mrs. Pooja Sarda on 31  March 2025.

Adequate no�ce was given to all directors for convening the Board Mee�ngs, agenda and detailed notes to agenda 
were sent at least seven days in advance for mee�ng other than those held at shorter no�ce, if any, and a system 
exists for seeking and obtaining further informa�on and clarifica�ons on the agenda items before the mee�ng and 
for meaningful par�cipa�on at the mee�ng.

Majority decision are carried through while the dissen�ng members' views are captured and recorded as part of the 
minutes.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and 
opera�ons of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regula�ons and 
guidelines.

It is stated that the compliance of all the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and other laws is the 
responsibility of the management. 

We have relied on the representa�on made by the Company and its Officers for systems and mechanism set-up by the 
Company for compliances under applicable laws including explana�ons furnished, informa�on provided as required 
by us in respect of assignment carried out.

Our examina�on on a test-check basis was limited to procedure followed by the company for ensuring the 
compliance with the required provisions as found applicable in the instant case. 

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the company nor towards 
the efficiency or effec�veness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the company.

We further state that this is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial ac�vi�es/statements of the 
company.

Moreover, we have not covered any ma�er related to any other laws, other than those men�oned in the report 
which may be applicable to the Company, except, the aforemen�oned corporate and other laws of the Union of 
India.

 

19

This Report is to be read with our le�er of even date which is annexed as ANNEXURE-A and forms an integral part of 
this report.

For Rantu Das & Associates

 Company Secretaries

                  (Rantu Kumar Das)

Partner 

Firm Registra�on No.: P2012WB065600

Membership No. FCS No. 8437  

CP No. 9671

        Peer Review No. :2929/2023

UDIN- F008437G000417065

Place: Kolkata
thDated: The 24  day of May, 2025



ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2025

INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED

CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472  

ANNEXURE-A
To,
The Members,
Interstate Oil Carrier Limited,
CIN: L15142WB1984PLC037472
Regd. Office: 113 Park Street, Poddar Point, 

th
South Wing, 5  Floor,Kolkata-700016.

stOur Secretarial Audit Report for financial year ended on 31  March, 2025 of even date is to be read along 
with this le�er.

1. Maintenance of secretarial records is the responsibility of the Management of the Company. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these Secretarial Records based on our audit.

2. We have followed the audit prac�ces and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 
assurance about the fairness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verifica�on was done on 
test basis to ensure that the facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes 
and prac�ces we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of accounts 
of the Company.

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representa�on about the compliance of laws, 
rules and regula�ons and happening of events etc. 

5. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regula�ons, standards 
is the responsibility of the Management. Our examina�on was limited to the verifica�on of procedure 
on test basis to the extent applicable to the Company.

6. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 
efficacy or effec�veness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.
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For Rantu Das & Associates

 Company Secretaries

                  (Rantu Kumar Das)

Partner 

Firm Registra�on No.: P2012WB065600

Membership No. FCS No. 8437  

CP No. 9671

        Peer Review No. :2929/2023

UDIN- F008437G000417065

Place: Kolkata
thDated: The 24  day of May, 2025
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Dated : ……August, 2022
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By Order of the BoardFor and behalf of 
Inter State Oil Carrier Limited

Sd/-Nikita Mohta 
Company Secretary

(Membership No. A55639)

ANNEXURE -II
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

OVERVIEW AND DEVELOPMENTS

The logis�cs sector in India con�nues to be a fundamental enabler of economic growth and 
compe��veness. As the country progresses toward becoming a US$ 6 trillion economy by 2030, the 
logis�cs ecosystem is rapidly evolving to meet increasing demands for speed, efficiency, and integra�on.

By 2025–2026, India's logis�cs and transport sector is expected to show strong momentum, supported by 
consistent growth in manufacturing, e-commerce, and exports. The sector is on track to expand at a 
compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 4.5% from 2022 through 2050, reaching 15.6 trillion tonne-
kilometres.

A key na�onal objec�ve remains the reduc�on of logis�cs costs from the current 13–14% of GDP to 
8–10%, with targeted outcomes under the Na�onal Logis�cs Policy (NLP) and PM Ga� Shak� Master Plan. 
Achieving this would enhance India's global trade compe��veness, with es�mates sugges�ng that a 10% 
reduc�on in indirect logis�cs costs could lead to a 5–8% increase in exports.

The year 2025–2026 Focus on Integra�on, Innova�on, and Sustainability: 

 a. Policy Implementa�on and Infrastructure Integra�on

 l The impact of PM Ga� Shak� is expected to become more visible by 2025–2026, with be�er 
coordina�on between rail, road, air, and port infrastructure.

 l Con�nued rollout of Mul�modal Logis�cs Parks (MMLPs) is likely to streamline cargo movement, 
reduce handling costs, and minimize transit delays.

 b. Digital Logis�cs and ULIP Adop�on

 l The Unified Logis�cs Interface Pla�orm (ULIP) is gaining trac�on among logis�cs service 
providers, offering real-�me visibility, seamless data exchange, and greater efficiency.

 l End-to-end digital supply chain visibility and paperless logis�cs opera�ons are becoming the 
norm, improving compliance and reducing lead �mes.

 c. E-commerce and Last-Mile Innova�on

 l Driven by growing e-commerce penetra�on into Tier 2 and Tier 3 ci�es, there is a surge in 
demand for last-mile delivery solu�ons, micro-fulfilment centers, and hyperlocal logis�cs 
pla�orms.

 l Startups are playing a crucial role in reshaping last-mile and mid-mile logis�cs using AI, drone 
delivery pilots, and EV-based fleets.

 d. Green Logis�cs and ESG Compliance

 l Environmental sustainability is becoming a key driver in logis�cs planning.

 l Companies are inves�ng in electric vehicles (Evs), CNG/LNG-based fleets, and green warehouses 
to meet carbon reduc�on goals and improve energy efficiency.

As India moves closer to becoming a major global manufacturing and export hub, the logis�cs sector in 
2025–2026 is poised to be a cornerstone of this transforma�on. With proac�ve policy support, digital 
innova�on, and sustainability-focused prac�ces, the sector is set to become more resilient, cost-effec�ve, 
and globally compe��ve.

For entrepreneurs, investors, and innovators, 2025–2026 offers a dynamic landscape rich with 
opportuni�es to redefine how India moves goods — faster, greener, and smarter.
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GLOBAL ECONOMY

Global growth is projected to remain steady at around 3.0%–3.2% in 2025–2026, driven by the con�nued 
resilience of the United States and recovery in several major emerging and developing economies. 
Despite ongoing challenges such as �ght financial condi�ons, high debt levels, and lingering post-
pandemic imbalances, strong consumer spending, government support in key sectors, and rising 
investment are suppor�ng economic ac�vity across regions.

While global economies con�nue to adjust to a high-interest rate environment, improvements in real 
disposable income and moderate gains in employment are aiding recovery. Private sector confidence has 
also seen gradual improvement, par�cularly in technology, infrastructure, and energy-related 
investments. However, the withdrawal of pandemic-era fiscal support and elevated central bank rates to 
control infla�on con�nue to weigh on growth momentum in some regions.

Global headline infla�on is expected to fall further to 4.4% in 2025, following a decline to 5.8% in 2024. 
Although infla�on is easing, it remains above pre-pandemic averages, with persistence in core infla�on 
posing a key downside risk to the global growth outlook. Con�nued �ghtness in labour markets, elevated 
wage pressures, and increased costs related to energy transi�on and localized supply chains are expected 
to keep infla�on from falling rapidly.

Addi�onally, the renewed rise in oil prices and vola�lity in global commodity markets have once again put 
pressure on input costs. Structural factors such as deglobaliza�on, reshoring of produc�on, and the high 
cost of financing green energy projects could further intensify cost pressures going forward.

Looking ahead to 2025–2026, while global economic growth remains posi�ve, it is likely to be uneven 
across regions. Effec�ve policy coordina�on, con�nued investment in sustainable sectors, and digital 
transforma�on will play a cri�cal role in shaping medium-term global economic stability.

INDIAN ECONOMY

India's economy remains on a strong growth path in 2025–2026, following the impressive 6.5% GDP 
growth recorded in FY 2024–25. The country con�nues to be the fastest-growing major economy, 
supported by robust domes�c demand, policy stability, and a strong reform agenda.

Favourable macroeconomic condi�ons, rising private sector investment, and a focus on structural reforms 
are sustaining momentum. Con�nued government emphasis on infrastructure development—both 
physical and digital—along with improved regulatory frameworks, is enhancing produc�vity and 
suppor�ng ease of doing business.

India is projected to grow from a $5 trillion to a $7 trillion economy by 2031, with an average growth rate of 
6.7%, pushing per capita income into the upper-middle-income bracket and solidifying India's posi�on as 
the world's third-largest economy.

However, the outlook for 2025–2026 also faces challenges, including geopoli�cal uncertain�es, an 
uneven global recovery, climate-related disrup�ons, and technological shi�s. Naviga�ng these risks while 
staying focused on domes�c reforms, investment in clean energy, and boos�ng innova�on will be key to 
sustaining long-term growth.

INDIAN LOGISTICS SECTOR: OUTLOOK AND OPPORTUNITIES

In 2024, India's logis�cs market is valued at approximately $471 billion, reflec�ng steady growth driven by 
rising domes�c consump�on, expanding manufacturing ac�vi�es, and the con�nuous boom in e-
commerce. The sector maintains a healthy compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 8.3%, underscoring 
its increasing contribu�on to the country's economic development.
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The logis�cs industry con�nues to experience strong demand, driven primarily by rapid urbaniza�on, the 
rise of e-commerce, and increased manufacturing ac�vity under ini�a�ves such as Make in India. 
However, the sector faces notable challenges, including infrastructure insufficiency, outdated equipment 
and technology, and subop�mal facility design. These issues constrain the industry's ability to efficiently 
support expected growth rates of 7-8% over the next decade.

In FY 2025–26, the freight forwarding segment is expected to maintain its posi�on as the fastest-growing 
func�on within the broader logis�cs market. Recognizing these dynamics, the Government of India has 
iden�fied four key pillars to strengthen the logis�cs ecosystem:

l Integra�ng logis�cs services to enable seamless end-to-end movement of goods;

l Enhancing transport infrastructure for improved connec�vity across road, rail, air, and mari�me          
modes;

l Addressing logis�cs needs of core sectors such as agriculture, manufacturing, and retail;

l Enhancing interna�onal compe��veness through policy reforms and global partnerships.

Digital transforma�on remains central to the sector's evolu�on, with widespread adop�on of IoT, 
blockchain, ar�ficial intelligence, and data analy�cs helping to op�mize opera�ons, improve shipment 
tracking, and reduce costs. Investments in modern infrastructure — including state-of-the-art 
warehousing, cold storage, and mul�modal logis�cs parks — con�nue to rise, addressing bo�lenecks and 
capacity gaps.

The ongoing e-commerce boom has further heightened demand for innova�ve last-mile delivery 
solu�ons, emphasizing speed, flexibility, and transparency. Meanwhile, sustainability ini�a�ves, such as 
the integra�on of electric vehicles and energy-efficient prac�ces, are gaining momentum, aligning with 
global environmental goals and emerging regulatory standards.

Through the Na�onal Logis�cs Policy (NLP), the government aims to reduce logis�cs costs from the 
current 14.4% of GDP to 9-10%, thereby enhancing India's export compe��veness and improving supply 
chain resilience. Despite persistent challenges including infla�onary pressures and supply chain 
disrup�ons, the sector presents significant opportuni�es for growth, innova�on, and employment.

In summary, FY 2025–26 offers a promising landscape for India's logis�cs industry. Our company is 
strategically posi�oned to leverage ongoing infrastructure developments, technological advancements, 
and policy reforms to expand our service offerings, improve opera�onal efficiencies, and contribute 
meaningfully to India's economic progress.

INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED (ISOCL)

Inter State Oil Carrier Limited is a prominent player in the bulk liquid and gas transporta�on sector, 
opera�ng across various strategic zones including East-North-East, West-North-West, West-East-West, 
East-South-East, and South-West-South. The company maintains a robust fleet and has established camp 
offices in key loca�ons such as Haldia, Chennai, Hazira, Mumbai, Kandla, Vadodara, Namrup, and 
Paradeep, ensuring comprehensive coverage of India's cri�cal logis�cs corridors.

Your Directors will leave no stone unturned to ensure that the effect of contrac�on in demand for 
movement of tankers on hired basis is minimum. Your Company has full faith in the efficiency and efficacy 
of staff at all levels. Moreover, your Company s�ll enjoys the confidence of many Companies across India.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
st

The financial statement for the year ended 31  March, 2025 of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with the Indian Accoun�ng Standards (referred to as ̀ Ind AS') prescribed under sec�on 133 of 
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the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Indian Accoun�ng Standards Rules, 2015, as 
amended from �me to �me. Significant accoun�ng policies used in the prepara�on of the financial 
statements are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

The following table gives an overview of the financial results of the company.

a) Analysis of revenue growth, profitability, margin performance and Earnings Per Share (EPS). 

l Revenue Growth: Total income increased from ₹8,524.71 Lakhs in Financial Year 2023-2024 to ₹8,856.24 Lakhs 
in Financial Year 2024-2025, marking a growth of 3.89%.

l Profitability: EBITDA grew by 2.36%, from ₹745.41 Lakhs to ₹763.02 Lakhs.PAT rose significantly by 32.63%, 
driven mainly by lower tax expenses.PBT decreased by 5.85%, due to higher deprecia�on and finance costs.

l Margins: EBITDA Margin slightly declined from 8.75% to 8.62%, indica�ng nearly stable opera�onal efficiency. 
PAT Margin improved from 1.01% to 1.29%, reflec�ng improved net profit due to lower tax burden.

l Earnings Per Share (EPS): EPS increased from ₹1.73 in FY23 to ₹2.29 inFinancial Year 2024-2025, an impressive 
growth of 32.37%.

b) Segment-Wise Performance:

The Company does not have more than one reportable segment in line with the Indian Accoun�ng Standards ("Ind 
AS") during the year and hence, segment repor�ng is not applicable.

FUTURE OUTLOOK OF YOUR COMPANY

ISOCL has demonstrated a consistent commitment to expanding its fleet to meet growing demand. As of 2024, the 
company operates a fleet of nearly 300 vehicles, comprising owned and dedicated-a�ached stainless steel tankers, 
single and mul�-compartment tankers, and state-of-the-art integrated tanker trailers equipped with high-end 
facili�es. This expansion reflects ISOCL's proac�ve approach to enhancing its capacity and service offerings.

With a strong opera�onal founda�on and alignment with industry trends, ISOCL is well-posi�oned to leverage the 
growth opportuni�es in India's logis�cs sector. The company's strategic ini�a�ves, coupled with favourable market 
dynamics and government support, are expected to drive sustained growth and enhance its compe��ve edge in the 
bulk liquid and gas transporta�on segment.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Company maintains a robust internal control system and procedures that are appropriately designed to align 
with the size and nature of its opera�ons. These controls ensure that financial and opera�onal records are reliable 
and accurate, suppor�ng the prepara�on of financial statements and other management reports while safeguarding 
the accountability of assets.

An Internal Auditor conducts regular internal audits throughout the year, with audit ac�vi�es carried out on a 
quarterly basis. The Internal Audit Reports are submi�ed to the Audit Commi�ee for their review and to iden�fy 
opportuni�es for enhancing the system across the organiza�on.

(` in Lakhs)

Par�culars

Total Income  8,856.24 8,524.71

EBITDA  763.02 745.41

EBITDA Margin(%)  8.62% 8.75%

PBT  155.90 165.59

PAT  114.42 86.24

PAT Margin(%)  1.29% 1.01%

EPS  2.29 1.73

Financial Year
2024-25

Financial Year
2023-24
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The Company u�lizes a comprehensive ERP system that facilitates accurate data recording for accoun�ng, 
consolida�on, and management informa�on purposes, ensuring efficiency and integrity in data management.

The Audit Commi�ee, composed en�rely of Independent Directors, meets quarterly to provide oversight. Their role 
is to ensure independent, professional, and high-quality audits, reinforcing the governance framework and 
contribu�ng to con�nuous improvement in the Company's internal control environment.

OPPORTUNITIES AND THREATS

Opportuni�es

Innova�ve logis�cs services are increasingly vital in mee�ng customer demands for a wider selec�on of high-quality 
products delivered punctually and cost-effec�vely. Service providers in the logis�cs sector have significant 
opportuni�es to capitalize on this growing demand by adop�ng advanced models such as Direct to Customers (D2C), 
Direct to Retailers (D2R), and Direct to Kirana (D2K). These models require the development of new approaches to 
produc�on, storage, and distribu�on.

To remain compe��ve, logis�cs players must enhance capabili�es in distribu�on, fulfilment, last-mile delivery, and 
leverage technology for inventory management, op�miza�on, customer data analy�cs, and route planning. Mee�ng 
these evolving customer expecta�ons is essen�al for sustained growth.

The Indian Government's focus on infrastructure development—such as improving road networks, construc�ng 
dedicated freight corridors, implemen�ng technology-driven warehousing, and establishing mul�modal logis�cs 
parks—further strengthens the growth poten�al in the sector.

Threats

The transporta�on and logis�cs industry faces a range of challenges in a rapidly changing environment. 
Environmental concerns, including emissions and carbon footprint reduc�on, require urgent adop�on of 
sustainable prac�ces. Increasing regulatory pressures and stricter emissions standards compel companies to adjust 
their opera�ons accordingly.

Addi�onally, the integra�on of advanced technologies such as autonomous vehicles presents infrastructural and 
safety challenges. Balancing economic viability with sustainability goals con�nues to be a complex task, 
necessita�ng innova�ve strategies and collabora�ve efforts.

Further risks include climate change impacts, supply chain disrup�ons, and aging infrastructure. Deteriora�ng 
infrastructure leads to bo�lenecks, causing delays, missed delivery windows, and increased transit �mes. Moreover, 
frequent repairs and maintenance of outdated infrastructure escalate opera�onal costs.

Despite these challenges, digitaliza�on, automa�on, sustainable transporta�on ini�a�ves, and collabora�ve 
approaches offer significant avenues for the industry to innovate, transform, and thrive in the future.

RISK AND CONCERN

Risk is inherent in all business ac�vi�es, varying in degree and form. Your Company con�nuously evaluates and 
manages risks as an ongoing process. The primary risks faced include intense market compe��on and rapid 
technological changes, both of which significantly impact the business environment.

CHALLENGES 

The logis�cs sector is rapidly evolving, bringing new challenges that require focused solu�ons. Persistent issues 
include lack of standardiza�on in processes, technology adop�on, and regula�ons. Managing high traffic density and 
rising input costs adds further complexity. Addi�onally, the absence of op�mized cost-reduc�on processes and a 
shortage of professionally skilled workforce hinder growth. Technology-driven startups also face slow progress due 
to limited availability of experienced manpower needed to support automa�on and digitaliza�on across logis�cs.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

Your Company places great importance on its human resources and maintains cordial rela�ons at all levels. We are 
commi�ed to inves�ng in people and processes to enhance human capital and improve service delivery to 
stakeholders.



A�rac�ng, developing, and retaining the right talent remains a key strategic focus. Recognizing human capital as vital 
to success, the Company values employee performance and looks forward to con�nued excellence. Empowerment 
across the organiza�on fosters effec�veness, supported by a strong talent pool across opera�onal areas. The human 
resource environment has remained smooth throughout the year, reflec�ng our belief that the workforce is an 
invaluable asset.

Safety is a core company value, and all necessary measures are taken to ensure a safe working environment.

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS, ALONG WITH DETAILED EXPLANATIONS THEREFOR

As s�pulated in the Regula�on 34(3) of SEBI (LODR) Regula�ons, 2015, the Company reports key financial ra�os as 
follows:

a) Details of significant changes (i.e. change of 25% or more as compared to the immediately previous financial 
year) in key financial ra�os or sector specific ra�os, along with detailed explana�ons thereof:

B) Details of any change in Return on Net Worth as compared to the immediately previous financial year along with 
a detailed explana�on thereof;

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

Statements in the Management Discussion and Analysis Report describing projec�ons, es�mates, expecta�ons, 
future outlook etc. In connec�on with the business may be 'forward looking statements' within the meaning of 
applicable securi�es laws and regula�ons. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied. 
However, the actual results could materially differ from those expressed or implied in the statements made by the 
Management. Various factors which are outside the purview of the Management Control can cause these 
devia�ons. These factors include economic developments in the country, changes in governmental policies and fiscal 
laws, sudden and unexpected rise in input costs, change in the demand supply pa�ern in the industry, etc.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2025

INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED

CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472  

26

Par�culars
Financial

Year
2024-2025

Financial
Year

2023-2024

Change

(%)
Reason for Variance

Place: Kolkata                                            
th

Dated: The 11  Day of August, 2025

    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Siddhant Jain
Whole Time Director

    (DIN:07154500)

Sanjay Jain
Managing  Director

    (DIN:00167765)

Par�culars
Financial

Year
2024-2025

Financial
Year

2023-2024

Change

(%)
Reason for Variance

Current Ra�o 1.04 1.09 -4.59%

Debt-Equity Ra�o 1.24 1.06 16.98%

Debt Service Coverage Ra�o 1.05 0.95 10.53%

Return on Equity Ra�o 0.06 0.05 20.00%

Inventory Turnover Ra�o N.A. N.A. N.A.

Trade Receivables Turnover Ra�o 6.03 6.63 -9.05%

Trade Payables Turnover Ra�o 21.75 22.34 -2.64%

Net Capital Turnover Ra�o 102.62 43.26 137.22%

Net Profit Ra�o 0.01 0.01 0.00%

Return on Capital Employed 0.07 0.09 -22.22%

Return on Investment - 0.01 -100.00%

Due to increase in revenue from 
opera�ons and decrease in 
working capital during the year

Due to decrease in income 
generated from invested funds 
during the year. 

There has been increase in 
return on Net Worth as 
compared to Previous year due 
to increase in Net Profit during 
the year. 

Return on Net worth (%) 6.10 5.00 22

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.
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ANNEXURE –III

MANAGING DIRECTOR (MD) & CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO) CERTIFICATION
[Issued in accordance with provisions of Regula�on 17(8) of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015]

To,

The Members of,

Inter State Oil Carrier Limited

113 Park Street, Poddar Point, 
thSouth Wing, 5  Floor,

Kolkata – 700016.

We, 

 1. Sanjay Jain, Managing Director & Chief Execu�ve Officer

 2. Malay Das, Chief Financial Officer

to the best of our knowledge and belief, cer�fy that :-
stA. We have reviewed financial statements and the cash flow statements for the year ended 31  March, 2025 and 

that to the best of our knowledge and belief; 

 1. these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain 

statements that might be misleading.

 2. these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company's affairs and are in compliance 

with exis�ng accoun�ng standards, applicable laws and regula�ons. 

B. There are to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transac�ons entered into by the Company during the 

year which are fraudulent, illegal or viola�ve of the Company's code of conduct. 

C. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial repor�ng and that we 

have evaluated the effec�veness of internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial repor�ng 

and we have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Commi�ee, deficiencies in the design or opera�on of such 

internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps we have taken or propose to take to rec�fy these 

deficiencies. 

D. We have disclosed, based on our evalua�on wherever applicable to the Auditors and the Audit Commi�ee 

that; 

 i. there were no significant changes in internal controls over financial repor�ng during the year; 

 ii. there are no significant changes in accoun�ng policies during the year, and 

 iii. there were no instances of significant fraud of which we are become aware and the involvement therein, 

if any, of the management or an employee having a significant role in the Company's internal control 

system over financial repor�ng.

Sanjay Jain
Managing Director
(DIN : 00167765)

Malay Das
Chief Financial OfficerPlace: Kolkata                                            

thDated: The 24  Day of May, 2025
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For Inter State Oil Carrier Limited
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ANNEXURE-IV

DECLARATION REGARDING AFFIRMATION OF CODE OF CONDUCT

[Regula�on 34, read with Schedule V(D), of the SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regula�ons, 2015]

To,

The Members of,

Inter State Oil Carrier Limited

113 Park Street, Poddar Point, 
thSouth Wing, 5  Floor,

Kolkata – 700016.

I, Sanjay Jain, Managing Director of Inter State Oil Carrier Limited hereby declare that to the best of my 

knowledge and belief, all the members of the Board of Directors and the Senior Management Personnel of 

the Company have affirmed their respec�ve compliance with the Code of Conduct, for the Financial Year 
st ended 31  March, 2025.

For Inter State Oil Carrier Limited

Sanjay Jain

Managing Director

(DIN: 00167765)

Place: Kolkata                                            
thDated: The 24  Day of May, 2025
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ANNEXURE –V

CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
For Financial Year ended on 31st March, 2025

[Pursuant to Regula�on 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10) (i) of the SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015]

To,

The Members,
Interstate Oil Carrier Limited,
Regd. Office: 113 Park Street Poddar Point, 

th
South Wing, 5  Floor, Kolkata-700016

We, have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the 
Directors of M/s. Inter State Oil Carrier Limited having CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472 and having 

thregistered office at 113 Park Street, Poddar Point, South Wing, 5  Floor, Kolkata – 700016 (hereina�er 
referred to as 'the Company'), produced before us by the Company for the purpose of issuing this Cer�ficate, 
in accordance with Regula�on 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub-clause 10(i) of the Securi�es and 
Exchange Board of India (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015.

In our opinion and to the best of our informa�on and according to the verifica�ons (including Directors 
Iden�fica�on Number (DIN) status at the portal ) as considered necessary and explana�ons www.mca.gov.in
furnished to us by the Company and its officers, we hereby cer�fy that none of the Directors on the Board of 

st
the Company as stated below for the Financial Year ended on 31  March, 2025 have been debarred or 
disqualified from being appointed or con�nuing as Directors of companies by the Securi�es and Exchange 
Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such other Statutory Authority.

Details of Directors:

Sl. No.        Name of the Director Director 
Iden�fica�on 
Number (DIN)

Date of 
appointment 
in Company

1. Mr. Sanjay Jain 00167765 31.08.1994

2. Mr. Siddhant Jain 07154500 02.05.2024

3. Mr. Nand Kumar Bha�er 00013918 02.11.2018

4. Mrs. Pooja Sarda*  05344423 31.03.2015

5. Mr. Sunil Shah 00606846 30.11.2019

* Mrs. Pooja Sarda (DIN: 05344423), Independent Director, completed her second term of five (5) years on 
the Board upon the close of business hours on 31st March 2025, in accordance with Sec�on 149(10) of the 
Companies Act, 2013.
Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment/ con�nuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility 
of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the basis of our 
verifica�on. This cer�ficate is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 
efficiency or effec�veness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.
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For Rantu Das & Associates
 Company Secretaries

                  (Rantu Kumar Das)
Partner 

Firm Registra�on No.: P2012WB065600
Membership No. FCS No. 8437  

CP No. 9671
        Peer Review No. :2929/2023
UDIN- F008437G000417120

Place: Kolkata                                            
thDated: The 24  Day of May, 2025

file:///D:\\D%20Drive\\RASHMI%20SHARMA\\ISOCL\\COMPANIES\\INTER%20STATE%20OIL%20CARRIER%20LIMITED\\AGM_ISOCL\\AGM_2024\\www.mca.gov.in
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61 Mr. Sanjay Jain Managing  39.63 54 31/08/1994 MBA 33 NA 17.40%
  Director    B.Com(H)

82 Mr. Siddhant   Whole Time 13.92 29 02/05/2024 M.Com, CFA 4 NA 0.00%
 Jain Director    MBA
3 Mr. Haradhan Senior Manager  8.33 50 01/04/2003 Higher  22 NA Nil
 Banerjee (Opera�ons)    Secondary
4 Mr. Malay Das CFO 8.24 50 01/07/2007 Graduate 18 NA Nil
5 Ms. Rashmi  Company  6.79 37 16/12/2021 CS, B.Com(H) 9 Ceeta  Nil

  Sharma Secretary      Industries
         Limited
6 Mr. Rakesh  Assistant   5.85 46 01/03/2021 Higher 31 Satwik  Nil
 Indoria Manager    Secondary  Ensemble
  (Opera�ons)
7 Mr. Susankar  Assistant  5.78 35 01/12/2010 B.Com(H) 14 NA Nil
 Chandra Das  Manager
  (Accounts)
8 Mr. Tapan Roy Deputy Manager 5.44 55 01/06/2009 Higher  16 NA Nil
  (Opera�ons)    Secondary
9 Mr. Ravi Kant Senior Fleet  4.95 29 08/07/2019 Higher  8 RK  Nil
 Roy Execu�ve    Secondary  Events
10 Mr. Basudev  Field Staff 4.91 55 01/06/2023 Senior 22 Inter State Nil
 Halder     Secondary  Liquid
        Logis�cs
        Limited

Sl.
 No.

Name Designa�on

Gross 
Remunera�on 

Drawn 
(Amount ` 

in lacs)

Age

(In 

Years)

Date of 
commencement 
of employment

Qualifica�ons
Experience 
(In Years) 

Par�culars 
of Last 

employment

Percentage of
equity shares
held by the 
employee in 
the company

ANNEXURE VI

Statement of par�culars of Employees as required under Sec�on 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 

read with Rule 5(2) and (3) of Companies (Appointment and Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) 

Rules, 2014, as amended, from �me to �me.

Notes:

1. Remunera�on includes salary, commission, bonus, allowances and monetary value of perquisites but excludes 
gratuity provision and Provident Fund.

2. All appointments are Confirmed. 

3. Mr. Sanjay Jain, Managing Director is Father of Mr. Siddhant Jain, Whole Time Director. None of the other 
employees are rela�ve of any Director of the Company. 

4. The above details include details of top ten employees of the Company, in terms of remunera�on drawn during 
the FY 2024-2025.

5. All the employees men�oned above were employed throughout the financial year. 

6. Mr. Sanjay Jain (HUF) percentage of equity shares held in the company is 0.88%.

7. Mr. Shan� Lal Jain, resigned from the posi�on of Chairman cum Whole Time Director of the Company and also as 
a Director of the Company, with effect from close of business hours on 30th April, 2024, the Gross Remunera�on 
Drawn (₹ in lacs)was ₹1.70 Lakhs.

8. Mr. Siddhant Jain (DIN:07154500) has been appointed as Addi�onal Director (Execu�ve / Whole Time Director) by the Board 
of Director in their mee�ng held on 02nd May, 2024 and further, the appointment been approved by the shareholders of the 
Company by passing special resolu�on at the 40th Annual General Mee�ng of the Company held on 19th September, 2024 for 
a period of three years from 02nd May, 2024 to 01st May, 2027.

Place: Kolkata                                            
thDated: The 11  Day of August, 2025

    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Siddhant Jain
Whole Time Director

    (DIN:07154500)

Sanjay Jain
Managing  Director

    (DIN:00167765)



ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2025

INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED

CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472  

ANNEXURE-VII

Statement of Disclosure under Sec�on 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of 
Companies (Appointment and Remunera�on of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 as amended from 
�me to �me, for the FY 2024-25

Sl. No. Requirements of Rule 5(1)

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

The ra�o of remunera�on of each 
director to the median remunera�on 
of the employees of the company for 
the financial year.

Mr. Shan� Lal Jain, Execu�ve Chairman. 4.47:1

The percentage increase in remune-
ra�on of each director, CFO, CEO,CS 
or manager, if any, in the financial 
year.

Mr. Shan� Lal Jain, Execu�ve Chairman.

Mr. Sanjay Jain, Managing Director.

Mr. Malay Das, Chief Financial Officer 

Ms. Rashmi Sharma, Company Secretary

The percentage increase in the 
median remunera�on of employees 
in the financial year 2024-25.

The median remunera�on of the employees in the 
financial year was increased by 11.11%

The number of permanent emplo-
yees on the rolls of Company.

There were 18 Employees as on 31.03.2025.

Average percen�le increase already 
made in the salaries of employees 
other than the managerial personnel 
in the last financial year and its 
comparison with percen�le increase 
in the managerial remunera�on and 
jus�fica�on thereof and point out if 
there are any excep�onal circum-
stances for increases in the manag-
erial remunera�on.

The average percent increase in the total managerial 
remunera�on in the financial year 2024-25 is 5.53%

The average percent increase in the salaries of employees 
other than the managerial personnel in the financial year 
2024-25 is 10.40%

There are no excep�onal circumstances for increase in 
the managerial remunera�on and the increase is 
commensurate to market standards.

It is hereby affirmed that the remunera�on paid is as per 
the Remunera�on Policy for Directors, KMP and other 
employees.

Affirma�on that the remunera�on is 
as per the remunera�on policy of the 
Company.

Name & Designa�on of Managerial 
Personnel

Details

Mr. Sanjay Jain, Managing Director. 9.27:1

Resigned on 
30.04.2024, 

hence, increase 
in remunera�on 
is not applicable

27.49%

8.47%

23.81%

Note: Only Managing Director and Whole-Time Directors receive remunera�on. Other Directors are Non 
–Execu�ve/ Independent Directors, who are paid only si�ng fees for a�ending the Board and Commi�ee 
mee�ngs. Hence, ra�os provided are only for Managing Director & Whole-Time Director.
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Place: Kolkata                                            
thDated: The 11  Day of August, 2025

    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Siddhant Jain
Whole Time Director

    (DIN:07154500)

Sanjay Jain
Managing  Director

    (DIN:00167765)

Mr. Siddhant Jain, Whole-�me Director. 3.56:1

Mr. Siddhant Jain, Whole-�me Director. Appointed on 
02.05.2024; 

hence, increase 
in remunera�on 
is not applicable
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Place: Kolkata                                            
th

Dated: The 11  Day of August, 2025

    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Siddhant Jain
Whole Time Director

    (DIN:07154500)

Sanjay Jain
Managing  Director

    (DIN:00167765)

ANNEXURE-VIII

FORM NO. AOC-2

[Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-sec�on (3) of sec�on 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014]

Form for disclosure of par�culars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related par�es referred to 
in sub-sec�on (1) of sec�on 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm's length transac�ons under third proviso
thereto.

st1.      Details of contracts or arrangements or transac�ons not at arm's length basis during the Financial Year ended 31  
        March, 2025. - NIL

2.      Details of material contracts or arrangements or transac�ons at arm's length basis: 

* Date of approval for subsequent, if any, addi�ons/modifica�ons are men�oned.
 During the financial year 2025-2026, all related party transac�ons entered into by the Company were in the 

ordinary course of business and on arm's length basis and are approved by Audit Commi�ee of the Company.

Name of 
the 

related 
party

Nature of 
Rela�onship

Nature of Contract /
Arrangement

Dura�on 
of 

the
Contract

Salient 
Terms of the 

Contract

Date 
of Approval 

by 
The Board.*

Amount 
paid as 

advance

Inter State 
Liquid 
Logis�cs 
Limited

Directors 
have 
significant 
influence.

Hire Agreement for  Availing/ 
rendering of logis�cs services 
(Hire of Tankers to and fro 
from/to Inter State Liquid 
Logis�cs Limited)

3 years with 
effect from 
01.04.2025 to 
31.03.2028

As per the 
Agreement 
entered 
between both 
the par�es. 
The 
transac�ons 
are in ordinary 
course of 
business and 
on arm's 
length basis at 
a price 
prevailing as 
on the date of 
Transac�on

14.02.2022 NIL

Inter State 
Capital 
Markets 
Pvt. Ltd.

Directors 
have 
significant 
influence.

Availing the logis�cs services 
i.e., hiring of tankers from Inter 
State Oil Carrier Limited as per 
requirement for the business 
of the company.

3 years with 
effect from 
25.05.2023 to 
24.05.2026

25.05.2023 NIL
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Key Audit Ma�er How our audit addressed the key audit ma�er

Investments in Securi�es

Investments of the company represent in various 
quoted and unquoted equity shares.

These cons�tute 0.49% of the Company's total 
assets.

The valua�on of each category of the aforesaid 
securi�es is to be done as per the provisions of 
Indian Accoun�ng Standards which involves 
collec�on of data / informa�on from various 
sources. Considering the complexi�es and extent 
of judgement involved in the valua�on, this has 
been determined as Key Audit Ma�er.

Refer Note 4 to the financial statements.

We have verified these investments with reference 
to the provisions of Accoun�ng Standards and also 
internal policies and procedure of the Company as 
follows:
l carried out evalua�on of the design and 

opera�ng effec�veness of the internal controls 
and performed substan�ve audit procedures.

l Assessed and evaluated the process adopted for 
collec�on of informa�on from various sources 
for determining fair value of these investments 
and inventories.

l Verified compliance with the presenta�on and 
disclosure requirements as per Accoun�ng 
Standards and the Act. 

TO
THE MEMBERS OF 
INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Inter State Oil Carrier Limited (“the Company”), which 
stcomprise the balance sheet as at 31  March 2025, and the statement of profit and loss, statement of 

changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accoun�ng policies and other explanatory informa�on. 

In our opinion and to the best of our informa�on and according to the explana�ons given to us, the 
aforesaid financial statements give the informa�on required by the Companies Act, 2013 in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accoun�ng principles generally accepted in 

st
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31 , 2025, and its profit, changes in equity and its 
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Audi�ng (SAs) specified under sec�on 
143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibili�es under those Standards are further described in 
the Auditor's Responsibili�es for the Audit of the Financial Statements sec�on of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Ins�tute of Chartered 
Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibili�es in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Key Audit Ma�ers
Key audit ma�ers are those ma�ers that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These ma�ers were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these ma�ers. We have determined the ma�ers described below to be the key audit 
ma�ers to be communicated in our report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Informa�on Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other informa�on. The other informa�on 
comprises the informa�on included in the Management Discussion and Analysis Board's report but does 
not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informa�on and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connec�on with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informa�on 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other informa�on is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
informa�on; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibili�es of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the ma�ers stated in sec�on 134(5) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the prepara�on of these financial statements that give a true and fair 
view of the financial posi�on, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in 
accordance with the accoun�ng principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accoun�ng 
Standards specified under sec�on 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of 
adequate accoun�ng records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of 
the Company and for preven�ng and detec�ng frauds and other irregulari�es; selec�on and applica�on of 
appropriate accoun�ng policies; making judgments and es�mates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementa�on and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were opera�ng 
effec�vely for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accoun�ng records, relevant to the 
prepara�on and presenta�on of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to con�nue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, ma�ers related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accoun�ng unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease opera�ons, or has no realis�c alterna�ve but to do so. 

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial repor�ng process. 

Key Audit Ma�er How our audit addressed the key audit ma�er

Our audit approach includes:
l Tes�ng the design and opera�ng effec�veness 

of the internal controls associated with 
contracts with customers/vendors.

l Tes�ng the informa�on technology systems 
related to consignment notes, trip data and 
billing.

l Analysing contracts with customers/vendors 
from selected samples.

l Analysing invoices with customers/vendors 
from selected samples.

l Reviewing the logic designed in prepara�on of 
consignment notes, bill registers, lorry hire 
contracts and the �me taken for concluding the 
performance obliga�on.

l Reviewing the report of Internal Auditors.

Revenue recogni�on and measurement including 
related cost of rendering of services involves 
cri�cal judgements by management including 
assessment of when the control of goods or 
services are being transferred, iden�fying large 
variety of complex performance obliga�ons and 
determining if such obliga�ons are sa�sfied over a 
period of �me.

Refer Note 1(ii)(g) to the financial statements.
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Auditor's Responsibili�es for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objec�ves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scep�cism throughout the audit. We also:

l Iden�fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detec�ng a 
material misstatement resul�ng from fraud is higher than for one resul�ng from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, inten�onal omissions, misrepresenta�ons, or the override of internal 
control.

l Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under sec�on 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are 
also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial 
controls system in place and the opera�ng effec�veness of such controls.

l Evaluate the appropriateness of accoun�ng policies used and the reasonableness of accoun�ng 
es�mates and related disclosures made by management.

l Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accoun�ng and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
condi�ons that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to con�nue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw a�en�on in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or condi�ons may cause the Company to cease to con�nue as 
a going concern.

l Evaluate the overall presenta�on, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transac�ons and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presenta�on.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other ma�ers, the planned 
scope and �ming of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we iden�fy during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all rela�onships and other 
ma�ers that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the ma�ers communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those ma�ers that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit ma�ers. We describe these ma�ers in our auditor's report unless law or regula�on precludes 
public disclosure about the ma�er or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a ma�er  
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
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reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communica�on.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-sec�on (11) of sec�on 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, we give in 
the Annexure “A” a statement on the ma�ers specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent 
applicable.

2. As required by Sec�on 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

 (a) We have sought and obtained all the informa�on and explana�ons which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

 (b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far 
as it appears from our examina�on of those books.

 (c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

 (d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accoun�ng Standards 
specified under Sec�on 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

st (e) On the basis of the wri�en representa�ons received from the directors as on 31  March, 2025 
sttaken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31  March, 

2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Sec�on 164(2) of the Act.

 (f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial repor�ng of the 
Company and the opera�ng effec�veness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
Annexure “B”.

 (g) With respect to the other ma�er to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with the 
requirements of sec�on 197(16) of the Act:

  In our opinion and to the best of our informa�on and according to the explana�ons given to us, the 
remunera�on paid/ provided by the Company to its directors during the year is in accordance with 
the provisions of sec�on 197 of the Act.

 (h) With respect to the other ma�ers to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
informa�on and according to the explana�ons given to us:

  i) The Company has disclosed the impact of pending li�ga�ons on its financial posi�on in its 
financial statements – Refer Note 42(ii) to the financial statements.

  ii) The Company did not have any long-term contracts including deriva�ve contracts for which 
there were any material foreseeable losses.

  iii) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Educa�on and 
Protec�on Fund by the Company.

  iv) (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief,  no funds 
have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or 
any other sources or kind of funds) by the company to or in any other person or en�ty, 
including foreign en��es (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in 
wri�ng or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest 
in other persons or en��es iden�fied in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
company (“Ul�mate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf 
of the Ul�mate Beneficiaries; 



   (b) The management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief,  no funds 
have been received by the company from any person or en�ty, including foreign en��es 
(“Funding Par�es”), with the understanding, whether recorded in wri�ng or otherwise, that 
the company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or en��es 
iden�fied in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ul�mate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ul�mate 
Beneficiaries; and 

   (c) Based on audit procedures which we considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, nothing has come to their no�ce that has caused them to believe that the 
representa�ons under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement. 

  v) No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company. 

  vi) Based on our examina�on which included test checks, the company has used an accoun�ng 
so�ware for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit 
log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transac�ons 
recorded in the so�ware. Further, during the course of our audit we did not come across any 
instance of audit trail feature being tampered with. Addi�onally, the audit trail has been 
preserved by the company as per the statutory requirements for record reten�on.
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Place :  1, India Exchange Place
Kolkata - 700 001

thDated: The 24  Day of May, 2025

    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)

    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678
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Annexure “A” to the Independent Auditor's Report
The Annexure referred to in our report to the members of the Company on the financial statements for the 

st
year ended on March 31 , 2025.

In term of the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and books of account examined by us in the 
normal course of audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we report that:

1) (a)(A) The company has maintained reasonable records showing full par�culars, quan�ta�ve 
details and situa�on of Property, Plant and Equipment.

 (A)(B) The company is maintaining proper records showing full par�culars of intangible assets.

 (b) The Company has a program of verifica�on to cover all the items of Property, Plant and 
Equipment in a phased manner which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size 
of the company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the program, certain Property, Plant 
and Equipment were physically verified by the management during the year. According to the 
informa�on and explana�on given to us, no material discrepancies were no�ced on such 
verifica�on. 

 (c) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our 
examina�on of the records of the Company, original �tle deeds of following immovable 
proper�es have been lodged with the bank for obtaining secured loans as per details given 
below:

Details of immovable assets Name of Bank or 
Financial Ins�tu�on

Available documents
for verifica�on

Office Premises located at 113, 
Park Street, Poddar Point, South 

th
Block,  5  Floor, Kolkata 700016

IndusInd Bank
3A, Upper Wood Street, 
Kolkata 700017

Photocopies of such �tle 
deed. 

However, we express no opinion on the validity of the �tle of the company to these proper�es.

 (d) The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use 
assets) or intangible assets or both during the year.

 (e) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, in our opinion, no proceedings have been ini�ated or are 
pending against the company for holding any Benami property under the Benami 
Transac�ons (Prohibi�on) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder.

2) (a) The company has neither purchased / sold goods during the year nor is there any opening 
stock. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

 (b) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, the company has been sanc�oned working capital limits in 
excess of Rupees Five Crore. Copies of monthly statements furnished to bank have also been 
made available for our verifica�on. Discrepancies no�ced during verifica�on of such 
statements with books of accounts, were reasonably explained by the management.

3) (a) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has made investments in 
companies.
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  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided loans or 
advances in the nature of loans and also not provided guarantee or security to companies, 
firms, Limited Liability Partnerships and other par�es.

 (b) In our opinion and according to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, the investments 
made during the year are, prima facie, not prejudicial to the Company's interest.

  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided any guarantees, 
security, loans or advances in the nature of loans or guarantee to companies, firms, Limited 
Liability Partnership and other par�es.

 (c) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided any loans or 
advances in the nature of loans. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(iii)(c) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

 (d) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided any loans or 
advances in the nature of loans. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(iii)(d) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

 (e) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided any loans or 
advances in the nature of loans. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(iii)(e) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

 (f) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our examina�on 
of the records of the Company, during the year the company has not provided any loans or 
advances in the nature of loans. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

4)  In our opinion and according to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, the Company 
has complied with the provisions of Sec�ons 185 and 186 of the Act in respect of grant of 
loans, making investments and providing guarantees and securi�es, as applicable.

5)  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and based on our audit procedure, 
the company has not accepted any deposits within the meaning of sec�on 73 to 76 of the Act 
or any other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

6)  The provisions of sec�on 148(1) of Companies Act, 2013 with regard to maintenance of cost 
records are not applicable to the Company.

7) (a) According to the records of the company, undisputed statutory dues including Goods and 
Services tax, provident fund, employees' state insurance, income tax, sales tax, service tax, 
duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess have generally been regularly deposited 
with the appropriate authori�es though there has been a slight delay in a few cases. 

  Further, no undisputed amounts payable in respect thereof were outstanding at the year-end 
for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable except as men�oned 
below:
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(b) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, there are no statutory dues referred in 
sub-clause (a) which have not been deposited with the appropriate authori�es on account of any 
dispute except for the following:

Name
of the

Statute

Period to which
the  amount

 relates

Income 
Tax Act, 

1961

Nature 
of the
Dues

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Forum where 
dispute is
 pending

Remarks, if any

T.D.S.
0.33

Refer Note No. 42(ii)(a)
of the financial 

statements

Statement of Arrears of Statutory Dues Outstanding for More than Six Months

Name of the
Statute

Period to which
the amount

relates

Nature 
of the
Dues

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Remarks,
if any

Preofession
Tax

11.04.2025

Date of
Payment

Due Date

–15.05.2023June' 20240.003

The West Bengal State 
Tax on Professions, 
Trades, Callings and 

Employments Rules, 1979

Income
Tax

95.42 A.Y. 2017-18

Refer Note No. 42(ii)(b)
of the financial 

statements

F.Y. 2008-09, F.Y. 
2023-24 and F.Y. 

2024-25

Refer Note No. 
42(ii)(a) of the 

financial statements

Refer Note No. 
42(ii)(b) of the 

financial statements

8)  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, there was no transac�on found 
unrecorded in the books of accounts of the company which have been surrendered or 
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

9) (a) According to the informa�on and explana�ons and as verified from books of accounts the 
company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or interest thereon to any lender.

 (b) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of our audit 
procedures, we report that the company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank 
or financial ins�tu�on or government or any government authority.

 (c) In our opinion and according to the informa�on and explana�ons given so us the company 
has u�lised the money obtained by way of term loans during the year for the purposes for 
which they were obtained.

 (d) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, and the procedures performed by 
us, and on an overall examina�on of the financial statements of the company, we report that 
no funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the company. 

 (e) The Company did not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture during the year. 
Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

 (f) The Company did not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture during the year. 
Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

10) (a) According to the records of the company, the company has not raised any moneys by way of 
Ini�al Public Offer or Further Public Offer (including debt instruments) during the year. 
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Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

 (b) According to the records of the company, the company has not made any preferen�al 
allotment or private placement of shares or conver�ble debentures (fully, par�ally or 
op�onally conver�ble) during the year. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(x)(b) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

11) (a) During the course of our examina�on of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted audi�ng prac�ces in India and according to the 
informa�on and explana�ons given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, no�ced or reported during the year, nor we have been informed of such 
case by the management.

 (b) To the best of our knowledge and informa�on with us, there is no instance of fraud reportable 
under sub-sec�on (12) of sec�on 143 of the Companies Act required to be file in Form ADT-4 
as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central 
Government.

 (c) As per informa�on and explana�ons given by management and/or audit commi�ee there 
were no whistle blower complaints received by the company during the year.

12)  In our opinion and to the best of our informa�on & explana�ons provided by the 
management, the company is not a nidhi company. Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(xii) 
of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

13)  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and based on our examina�on of 
the records of the Company, all transac�ons with the related par�es are in compliance with 
sec�on 177 and 188 of Companies Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been 
disclosed in the Financial Statements etc. as required by the applicable accoun�ng standards.

14) (a) In our opinion and based on our examina�on, the company has an internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

 (b) We have considered the internal audit reports of the company issued �ll date, for the period 
under audit.

15)  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, in our opinion during the year the 
company has not entered into any non-cash transac�ons with its directors or persons 
connected with its directors and hence provisions of sec�on 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 
are not applicable to the company.

16) (a) The company is not required to be registered under sec�on 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India 
Act, 1934.

 (b) The Company has not conducted non-banking financial / housing finance ac�vi�es during the 
year. Accordingly, the repor�ng under Clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

 (c) The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regula�ons made by 
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the repor�ng under Clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

 (d) According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us, there is no CIC in the Group.
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17)  The Company has not incurred any cash losses during the financial year or in the immediately 
preceding financial year.

18)  There has been no resigna�on of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, the 
repor�ng under Clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

19)  According to the informa�on and explana�ons given to us and on the basis of the financial 
ra�os, ageing and expected dates of realisa�ons of financial assets and payment of financial 
liabili�es, other informa�on accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the 
Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examina�on of the evidence 
suppor�ng the assump�ons, nothing has come to our a�en�on, which causes us to believe 
that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that company is not 
capable of mee�ng its liabili�es exis�ng at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due 
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an 
assurance as to the future viability of the company. We further state that our repor�ng is 
based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor 
any assurance that all liabili�es falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet 
date, will get discharged by the company as and when they fall due.

20) (a) There are no unspent amounts towards Corporate Social Responsibility ('CSR'). Accordingly, 
repor�ng under paragraph 3(xx)(a) of the Order is not applicable for the year.

 (b) The Company does not have any ongoing projects in accordance with the requirements of 
CSR guidelines and hence, repor�ng under paragraph 3(xx)(b) of the Order is not applicable 
for the year.

21)  The Company did not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture during the year. 
Accordingly, repor�ng under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

Place :  1, India Exchange Place
Kolkata - 700 001

th
Dated: The 24  Day of May, 2025

    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)

    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678
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Annexure “B” to the Independent Auditor's Report

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-sec�on 3 of Sec�on 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial repor�ng of Inter State Oil Carrier Limited 
st

(“the Company”) as of March 31 , 2025 in conjunc�on with our audit of the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control over financial repor�ng criteria established by the Company considering the 
essen�al components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls over Financial Repor�ng issued by the Ins�tute of Chartered Accountants of India. These 
responsibili�es include the design, implementa�on and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls that were opera�ng effec�vely for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the preven�on and detec�on of 
frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accoun�ng records, and the �mely prepara�on 
of reliable financial informa�on, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial 
repor�ng based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Repor�ng (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Audi�ng, 
issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under sec�on 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the 
extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial 
Controls and, both issued by the Ins�tute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the 
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial repor�ng 
was established and maintained and if such controls operated effec�vely in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system over financial repor�ng and their opera�ng effec�veness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls over financial repor�ng included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls over financial repor�ng, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and tes�ng and 
evalua�ng the design and opera�ng effec�veness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system over financial repor�ng.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Repor�ng 

A company's internal financial control over financial repor�ng is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the prepara�on of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles. A company's internal 
financial control over financial repor�ng includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac�ons and 
disposi�ons of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac�ons are 
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recorded as necessary to permit prepara�on of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accoun�ng principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only 
in accordance with authorisa�ons of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding preven�on or �mely detec�on of unauthorised acquisi�on, use, or 
disposi�on of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limita�ons of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Repor�ng

Because of the inherent limita�ons of internal financial controls over financial repor�ng, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projec�ons of any evalua�on of the internal financial 
controls over financial repor�ng to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control 
over financial repor�ng may become inadequate because of changes in condi�ons, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system 
over financial repor�ng and such internal financial controls over financial repor�ng were opera�ng 

steffec�vely as at March 31 , 2025, based on the internal control over financial repor�ng criteria established 
by the Company considering the essen�al components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Repor�ng issued by the Ins�tute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.

Place :  1, India Exchange Place
Kolkata - 700 001

th
Dated: The 24  Day of May, 2025

    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)

    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678
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  ASSETS
 1 Non-Current Assets
 a Property, Plant and Equipment 2 2,880.50 2,074.80
 b Other Intangible Assets 3 6.76 8.38
 c Financial Assets
 i Investments 4 24.16 24.22
 ii Other Financial Assets 5 - 5.00
 d Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 6 - -
 2 Current Assets
 a Financial Assets
 i Trade Receivables 7 1,271.17 1,651.78
 ii Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 65.46 115.72
 iii Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 62.50 59.65
 iv Other Financial Assets 10 64.86 54.19
 b Current Tax Assets (Net) 11 371.75 280.68
 c Other Current Assets 12 182.91 154.42
   Total Assets  4,930.07 4,428.84
  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
 I EQUITY
 a Equity Share Capital  13 499.23 499.23
 b Other Equity  14 1,431.91 1,317.88
 II LIABILITIES
 1 Non-Current Liabili�es
 a Financial Liabili�es
 i Borrowings  15 1,036.70 478.56
 b Deferred Tax Liabili�es (Net)  6 29.48 12.62
 2 Current Liabili�es
 a Financial Liabili�es
 i Borrowings  16 1,353.11 1,444.31
 ii Trade Payables  17
  - Total outstanding dues of micro enterprise    91.23 32.43
  and small enterprises
   - Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro   223.19 367.77
  enterprises and small enterprises
 iii Other Financial Liabili�es  18 7.39 3.75
 b Other Current Liabili�es  19 257.83 272.29
   Total Equity and Liabili�es  4,930.07 4,428.84

(Amount in ` Lakhs)

Note
No.

As at
31.03.2025

As at
31.03.2024

Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2025

Significant Accoun�ng Policies : Note 1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements
As per our report of even date annexed
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    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)
    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678

Place : Kolkata
rtDated: The 24  day of May, 2025

For and on behalf of Board of Directors

________________________
Sanjay Jain (DIN: 00167765)

Managing Director

___________________________
Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500)

Whole Time Director

_________________________
Malay Das

Chief Financial Officer

________________________
Rashmi Sharma

Company Secretary

Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2025
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 I Revenue from Opera�ons  20 8,814.82 8,473.59
 II Other Income  21 41.42 51.12 
 III Total Income (I+II)   8,856.24 8,524.71 
 IV EXPENSES
 a Opera�ng Expenses  22 7,770.29 7,453.36 
 b Employee Benefits Expense  23 157.81 142.41 
 c Finance Costs  24 173.78 172.52 
 d Deprecia�on and Amor�sa�on Expense  25 433.34 407.30 
 e Other Expenses  26 165.12 183.53 
   Total Expenses (IV)  8,700.34 8,359.12 
 V Profit / (Loss) before Excep�onal Items and Tax (III - IV)   155.90 165.59 
 VI Excep�onal Items   - -
 VII Profit / (Loss) before Tax (V - VI)   155.90 165.59 
 VIII Tax Expense:  27
  Current Tax   24.62 30.94 
  Deferred Tax   16.86 48.41 
 IX Profit / (Loss) for the period (VII - VIII)                   114.42 86.24              
 X Other Comprehensive Income   28
 a.i Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss   (0.47) (0.12) 
 a.ii Income tax rela�ng to items that will not be   0.08 0.02 
  reclassified to profit or loss
 b.i Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss   - -
 b.ii Income tax rela�ng to items that will be reclassified to   - -
  profit or loss
  Other Comprehensive Income for the period (Net of Tax) (X)  (0.39) (0.10)
 XI Total Comprehensive Income for the period (IX+X)   114.03 86.14 
 XII Earnings Per Share (₹)  29 2.29 1.73 

(Amount in ` Lakhs)

Note
No.

Figures for the
year ended
31.03.2025

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2025

Significant Accoun�ng Policies : Note 1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements
As per our report of even date annexed

Figures for the
year ended
31.03.2024
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2025

    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)
    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678

Place : Kolkata
thDated: The 24  day of May, 2025

For and on behalf of Board of Directors

________________________
Sanjay Jain (DIN: 00167765)

Managing Director

___________________________
Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500)

Whole Time Director

_________________________
Malay Das

Chief Financial Officer

________________________
Rashmi Sharma

Company Secretary
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Net Profit / (Loss) before Tax 155.90 165.59  
Adjustment for :
Deprecia�on & Amor�za�on Expenses 433.34 407.30  
Finance Costs 173.78 172.52  
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans through 
Other Comprehensive Income (0.47) (0.12)  
Interest Income from Fixed Deposits (4.47) (2.92)  
Dividend Income from Non-Current Investment (0.03) (1.57) 
Net (gain)/loss on Fair Value Changes of Investment 0.04 (27.01) 
Loss / (Profit) on sale & discard of Property, Plant & Equipment (6.16) 20.68  
Bad Debts 2.87 14.67  
Provision for Doub�ul Debts / (Wri�en Back) (8.58) 8.89  
Opera�ng Profit / (Loss) before Working Capital Adjustment 746.22 758.03  
Changes in Working Capital 
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables 386.32 (772.58)  
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Financial Assets (4.29) (2.63)  
(Increase)/Decrease in Current Tax Asset (91.07) 13.42  
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Current Assets (28.49) (17.39)  
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables (85.78) 133.12  
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Financial Liabili�es 3.64 -
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabili�es  (14.46) 233.98  
Cash Generated from Opera�on 912.09 345.95  
Less: Payment of Taxes 24.54 30.92 
Net cash flow from / (used in) opera�ng ac�vi�es (A) 887.55 315.03  
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment (1255.08) (193.16)  
Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant & Equipment 24.91 80.08 
Purchase of Intangible Assets (1.09) (3.90) 
Dividend Income from Non-Current Investment 0.03 1.57 
Purchase of Non-Current Investments - (46.70)  
Proceeds from sale of Non-Current Investments 0.01 334.95 
(Increase)/Decrease in Bank balances other than  
Cash and Cash Equivalents (incl. interest accrued) (4.22) (29.16) 
Interest Income from Fixed Deposits 4.47 2.92 
Net cash flow from / (used in) Inves�ng Ac�vi�es (B) (1230.97) 146.60 

A.

2024-25
Amount
  (` Lakhs)

2023-24
Amount
  (` Lakhs)

B.

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025
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CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase/(Decrease) in Borrowings                      466.94 (189.75) 
Finance Costs (173.78) (172.52) 
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing ac�vi�es (C) 293.16 (362.27) 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (50.26) 99.36 
Opening Cash & Cash Equivalent 115.72 16.36 
Closing Cash & Cash Equivalent 65.46 115.72 

CLOSING CASH & CASH EQUIVALENT

Cash at Bank 58.10 104.17 
Cash in Hand 7.36 11.55 
  65.46 115.72 
As per our a�ached report of even date

C.

    For Patni & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Reg. No. 320304E)

A. Rajgaria
    (Partner)
    Membership No. 300004
    UDIN: 25300004BMMKIB1678

Place : Kolkata
thDated: The 24  day of May, 2025

For and on behalf of Board of Directors

________________________
Sanjay Jain (DIN: 00167765)

Managing Director

___________________________
Siddhant Jain (DIN: 07154500)

Whole Time Director

_________________________
Malay Das

Chief Financial Officer

________________________
Rashmi Sharma

Company Secretary

2024-25
Amount
  (` Lakhs)

2023-24
Amount
  (` Lakhs)
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

i) Basis of Prepara�on

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared to comply with the Indian Accoun�ng 
standards ('Ind AS'), including the rules no�fied under the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost conven�on on the accrual basis, 
except for the following assets and liabili�es which have been measured at fair value. 

 a. Certain financial assets at fair value (refer accoun�ng policy regarding financial instruments).

  The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (₹ Lakhs).

ii) Summary of Significant Accoun�ng Policies

 a) Property, Plant and Equipment

  On transi�on to Ind AS, the Company has adopted op�onal excep�on under Ind AS 101 to 
measure property, plant and equipment at Indian GAAP carrying value as deemed cost.  
Consequently, the Indian GAAP carrying values has been assumed to be deemed cost of property, 
plant and equipment on the date of transi�on.  Subsequently, property, plant and equipment are 
carried at cost less accumulated deprecia�on and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost 
includes expenditure that is directly a�ributable to the acquisi�on of the items. 

  Deprecia�on on the property, plant and equipment is provided over the useful life of assets as 
specified in schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013.  Property, plant and equipment which are 
added / disposed off during the year, deprecia�on is provided on pro-rata basis with reference to 
the date of addi�on / dele�on.  Freehold land is not depreciated. 

  Capital work-in-progress includes cost of property, plant and equipment under installa�on / 
under development as at the balance sheet date. 

  Property, plant and equipment's are eliminated from financial statement, either on disposal or 
when re�red from ac�ve use.  Profits / losses arising in the case of re�rement of property, plant 
and equipment and gains or losses arising from disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the year of occurrence. 

  Intangible assets have been amor�zed over the period of four financial years.

  The es�mated useful lives of Property, Plant & Equipments of the Company as follows:

  Office Premises   : 30 years
  Garage    : 30 years
  Furniture & Fixtures  : 10 years
  Plant & Equipments  : 5 years, 10 years and 15 years
  Trucks /Tankers   : 8 years
  Motor Vehicles   : 8 years and 10 years
  Computers & Printers  : 3 years
  The assets residual values, useful lives and method of deprecia�on are reviewed at each financial 

year end and are adjusted prospec�vely, if appropriate.

 b) Impairment of non-current assets 

  An asset is considered as impaired when at the date of Balance Sheet there are indica�ons of 
impairment and the carrying amount of the asset or where applicable the cash genera�ng unit to 

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025
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which the asset belongs exceeds its recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the net asset selling 
price less cost to sell and value in use). The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount 
and the reduc�on is recognised as an impairment loss in the statement of Profit and Loss. The 
impairment loss recognised in the prior accoun�ng period is reversed if there has been a change 
in the es�mate of recoverable amount.  Post impairment, deprecia�on is provided on the revised 
carrying value of the impaired asset over its remaining useful life.

 c) Cash and Cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks, cash in hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdra�s as they are considered 
an integral part of the Company's cash management.

 d) Employee Benefits

  Defined Contribu�on Plans

  A defined contribu�on plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Company pays 
specified contribu�ons to a separate en�ty. The Company makes specified monthly contribu�ons 
towards Provident Fund. The Company's contribu�on recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Profit & Loss during the period in which the employees renders the related service.

  Defined Benefit Plans

  In respect of liability towards Gratuity, Company has entered into a Group Gratuity Scheme with 
Life Insurance Corpora�on of India.

  The other re�rement benefits are accounted for as and when the liability for payment arises.

 e) Tax Expenses

  The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in 
Statement of Profit & Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respec�vely. In which case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or equity. 

  Current Tax

  Current tax assets and liabili�es are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxa�on authori�es, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substan�vely 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

  Deferred Tax

  Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabili�es in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computa�on of 
taxable profit.

  Deferred tax liabili�es and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is se�led or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by the end of the repor�ng period. The carrying 
amount of deferred tax liabili�es and assets are reviewed at the end of each repor�ng period.

 f) Financial Instruments – Ini�al recogni�on, subsequent measurement and impairment

  A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one en�ty and a 
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financial liability or equally instrument of another en�ty.

  Financial Assets Ini�al Recogni�on and Measurement 

  All financial assets are recognised ini�ally at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transac�on costs that are a�ributable to the 
acquisi�on of the financial asset.  Financial assets are classified, at ini�al recogni�on, as financial 
assets measured at fair value or as financial assets measured at amor�sed cost. 

  Financial Assets – Subsequent Measurement 

  For the purpose of subsequent measurement financial assets are classified in two broad 
categories:-

  a) Financial Assets at fair value 

  b) Financial assets at amor�sed cost

  Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recognised en�rely in the 
statement of profit and loss (i.e. fair value through profit or loss) or recognised in other 
comprehensive income (i.e. fair value through other comprehensive income).

  A financial asset that meets the following two condi�ons in measured at amor�sed cost (net of 
any write down for impairment) unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss 
under the fair value op�on. 

  a) Business Model Test: The objec�ve of the Company's business model is to hold the financial 
asset to collect the contractual cash flow (rather than to sell the instrument).

  b) Cash Flow Characteris�cs Test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flow that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

  A financial asset that meets the following two condi�ons is measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss under the 
fair value op�on. 

  a) Business Model Test: The financial asset is held within a business model whose objec�ve is 
achieved by both collec�ng contractual cash flow and selling financial assets. 

  b) Cash Flow characteris�cs Test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flow that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

  Even if an instrument meets the two requirements to be measured at amor�sed cost or fair value 
through other comprehensive, a financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recogni�on inconsistency 
(some�mes referred to as an accoun�ng mismatch) that would otherwise arise from measuring 
assets or liabili�es or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. All other 
financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

  All equity instruments are measured at fair value in the balance sheet, with value changes 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss, except for those equity instruments for which the 
en�ty has elected to present value changes in other comprehensive income. 

  Financial Assets – De-recogni�on 

  A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025



ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2025

INTER STATE OIL CARRIER LIMITED

CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472  

56

financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Company's statement of 
financial posi�on) when:

  a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or

  b) The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flow from the asset or has assumed an 
obliga�on to pay the received cash flow in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-
through arrangement and either i) the company has transferred substan�ally all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or ii) the company has neither transferred nor retained substan�ally all the 
risks and rewards of the assets, but has transferred control of the asset. 

  When the company has transferred its rights to receive cash flow from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and 
rewards of ownership.  When it has neither transferred nor retained substan�ally all of the risks 
and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company con�nues to 
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Company's con�nuing involvement.  In that 
case, the company also recognises an associated liability.  The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obliga�ons that the 
Company has retained. 

  Con�nuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying of the asset and the maximum amount of considera�on that 
the company could be required to repay. 

  Financial Liabili�es – Ini�al Recogni�on and Measurement 

  The financial liabili�es are recognised ini�ally at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly a�ributable transac�on costs. The Company's financial liabili�es 
include trade and other payable, loans and borrowings including bank overdra�s. 

  Financial Liabili�es – Subsequent Measurement 

  The measurement of financial liabili�es depends on their classifica�on, as described below:

  Financial liabili�es at fair value through profit or loss 

  Financial Liabili�es at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabili�es held for trading 
and financial liabili�es designated upon ini�al recogni�on as at fair value through profit or loss. 

  Gains or losses on liabili�es held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

  Financial liabili�es designated upon ini�al recognised at fair value through profit or loss are 
designated at the ini�al date of recogni�on and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 as sa�sfied. 

  Financial Liabili�es – Loans and Borrowings 

  A�er ini�al recogni�on, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amor�sed cost using Effec�ve Interest Rate (EIR) Method.  Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit and loss when the liabili�es are de-recogni�on as well as through the EIR amor�sa�on 
process.  Amor�sed cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisi�on and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.  The EIR amor�sa�on in includes 
as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

  Financial Liabili�es – De-recogni�on 

  A financial liability is de-recognised when the obliga�on under the liability is discharged or 
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cancelled or expires.  When an exis�ng financial liability is replaced by another, from the same 
lender on substan�ally different terms, or the terms of an exis�ng liability are substan�ally 
modified,  such an exchange or modifica�on is treated as the de-recogni�on of the original 
liability and the recogni�on of a new liability.  The difference in the respec�ve carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

 g) Revenue Recogni�on and Other Income

  Sale of Services

  Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the performance of agreed contractual 
task has been completed.

  Interest income 

  For all financial instruments measured at amor�sed cost, interest income is recorded using the 
effec�ve interest rate (EIR).  EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the es�mated future cash 
payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  Interest income is included in the 
other income in the statement of profit and loss. 

 h) Provisions, con�ngent liabili�es, con�ngent assets and commitments

  Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obliga�ons (legal or construc�ve) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an ou�low of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to se�le the obliga�ons and a reliable es�mate can be made of the amount of the 
obliga�ons.  If the effect of the �me value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
equivalent period government securi�es interest rate.  Unwinding of the discount is recognised in 
the statement of Profit and loss as a finance cost.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and are adjusted to reflect the current best es�mate. 

  Con�ngent liabili�es are disclosed when there is a possible obliga�on arising from past events, 
the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the company or a present 
obliga�on that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an ou�low of resources 
will be required to se�le or a reliable es�mate of the amount cannot be made.  Informa�on on 
con�ngent liability is disclosed in the Notes to be Financial Statements.

  Con�ngent assets are not recognised. However when the realisa�on of income is virtually certain, 
then the related asset is no longer a con�ngent asset, but it is recognised as an asset.

 i) Current and Non-current Classifica�on 

  The company presents assets and liabili�es in statement of financial posi�on based on current / 
non-current classifica�on. 

  The company has presented non-current assets and current assets before equity, non-current 
liabili�es and current liabili�es in accordance with Schedule III, Division II of Companies Act, 2013 
no�fied by Ministry of Corporate Affairs. 

  An assets is classified as current when it is :

  a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal opera�ng cycle. 

  b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading.

  c) Expected to be realised within twelve months a�er the repor�ng period or 
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  d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to se�le a liability for 
at least twelve months a�er the repor�ng period. 

  All other assets are classified as non-current 

  A liability is classified as current when it is :

  a) Expected to be se�led in normal opera�ng cycle 

  b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading

  c) Due to be se�led within twelve months a�er the repor�ng period or 

  d) There is no uncondi�onal right to defer the se�lement of the liability for at least twelve 
months a�er the repor�ng period 

  All other liabili�es are classified as non-current 

  The opera�ng cycle is the �me between the acquisi�on of assets for processing and their 
realisa�on in cash or cash equivalents. Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are classified as non-
current assets and liabili�es.  The company has iden�fied twelve months as its normal opera�ng 
cycle.

 j) Fair Value Measurement :

  The company measures financial instruments at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transac�on between market par�cipants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presump�on that the transac�on to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either.

  a) In the principal market for the asset or liability or 

  b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability. 

  The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the company.  The fair value 
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assump�ons that market par�cipants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market par�cipants act in their economic best 
interest. 

  A fair value measurement of non-financial asset takes into account a market par�cipants ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market par�cipant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

  The company uses valua�on techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

  All assets and liabili�es for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

  a) Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in ac�ve markets for iden�cal assets or liabili�es. 

  b) Level 2 - Valua�on techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 

  c) Level 3 – Valua�on techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable. 

  For assets and liabili�es that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
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company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisa�on (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each repor�ng period. 

 k) Offse�ng Financial Instruments

  Financial assets and liabili�es are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
where there is a legally enforceable rights to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
inten�on to se�le on a net basis or realise the asset and se�le the liability simultaneously.  The 
legally enforceable rights must not be con�ngent on future events and must be enforceable in the 
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company 
or counterparty.

iii) Significant Accoun�ng Judgement, Es�mates and Assump�ons

 The prepara�on of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, es�mates and 
assump�ons that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, and liabili�es and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of con�ngent liabili�es.  Uncertainty about these 
assump�ons and es�mates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabili�es affected in future period.  The key assump�ons concerning the 
future and other key sources of es�ma�on uncertainty at the repor�ng date, that have a significnat 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabili�es within the next 
financial year, are described below.  The company based its assump�ons and es�mates on parameters 
available when the financial statements were prepared. Exis�ng circumstances and assump�ons 
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
that are beyond the control of the company.  Such changes are reflected in the assump�ons when they 
occur.

 Property, Plant and Equipment

 Internal technical team or user team assess the remaining useful lives and residual value of property, 
plant and equipment. Management believes that the assigned useful lives and residual value are 
reasonable.

 Con�ngencies 

 Management has es�mated the possible ou�low of resources at the end of each annual repor�ng 
period, if any, in respect of con�ngencies / claim / li�ga�ons against the company as it is not possible to 
predict the outcome of pending ma�ers with accuracy. 

 Impairment of Financial Assets

 The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assump�ons about risk of default and 
expected loss rates. The Company uses judgement in making these assump�ons and selec�ng the 
inputs to the impairment calcula�on, based on Company's past history, exis�ng market condi�ons as 
well as forward looking es�mates at the end of each repor�ng period.

 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

 The Company assesses at each repor�ng date whether there is an indica�on that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indica�on exists, or when annual impairment tes�ng for an asset is required, the 
Company es�mates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or Cash Genera�ng Units (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
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independent to those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or 
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is wri�en down to its 
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the es�mated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the �me value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less cost of disposal recent 
market transac�ons are taken into account. If no such transac�ons can be iden�fied, an appropriate 
valua�on model is used. These calcula�ons are corroborated by valua�on mul�ples or other available 
fair value indicators.

 Defined Benefits Plans

 The Cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of 
such obliga�on are determined using actuarial valua�ons. An actuarial valua�on involves making 
various assump�ons that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the 
determina�on of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and a�ri�on rate. Due to 
the complexi�es involved in the valua�on and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obliga�on is 
highly sensi�ve to changes in these assump�ons. All assump�ons are reviewed at each repor�ng date.

 Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

 When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabili�es recorded in the balance sheet cannot be 
measured based on quoted prices in ac�ve markets, their fair value is measured using valua�on 
techniques including the Discounted Cash flow (DCF) model. The inputs to these models are taken 
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is 
required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considera�ons of inputs such as liquidity risk, 
credit risk and vola�lity. Changes in assump�ons about these factors could affect the reported fair 
value of financial instruments.
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

F.V
(`)

4 Investments
I. At fair value through profit & loss
i. Equity Instruments
 (Fully paid-up unless otherwise stated)
a. (Unquoted, Non-Trade Investments)
 Cifco Finance Ltd *  10 300 0.01  300 0.01
 Kaizen Organics (P) Ltd *  10 12000 12.00 12000 12.00
 Chennai Super Kings Cricket Ltd **  0.1 800 - 800 -
 Indo Britain Agro Farms Ltd **  10 4000 0.40 4000 0.40
 Interna�onal Hometex Ltd ** #  10 6000 0.16 6000 0.16
 Pashupa� Seohung Ltd  **  10 2000 0.08 2000 0.08
 Reliance Mediaworks Ltd **  5 750 0.04 750 0.04
 Sai Televisions Ltd **  10 6000 0.60 6000 0.60
 Sterlite Grid 5 Ltd **  2 70 - 0 -
 Sterlite Power Transmission Ltd **  2 70 - 70 -
 Varun Global Ltd **  10 300 - 300 -
  Total (a)  32290 13.29  32220 13.29
 *  Investments are valued at cost. 
 **Investments are valued at rate reflec�ng in demat statement as available with the management.
 #  Interna�onal Hometex Ltd is under liquida�on.

 Satchmo Holding Ltd (Formerly NEL Holdings Ltd)  10 500 0.01 500 0.02
 Swadeshi Industries Leasing Ltd  1 500 0.03 500 0.01
 Yes Bank Ltd  10 1069 0.18 1069 0.25
 BS Ltd  1 300 - 300 - 
 Cauvery So�ware Engineering Systems Ltd  10 1000 0.10 1000 0.10
 Ess Dee Aluminium Ltd  10 1300 0.02 1300 0.02
 KSK Energy Ventures Ltd  10 600 - 600 -
 Manpasand Beverages Ltd  10 30 - 30 -
 MP Investments & Consultancy Services Ltd  10 8050 5.61 8050 5.61
 Sharon Bio-Medicine Ltd  2 0 - 70 -
 Sun Granite Exports Ltd  10 20000 2.42 20000 2.42
 ABG Shipyard Ltd *  10 450 0.05 450 0.05
 Ang Industries Ltd *  10 600 0.06 600 0.06
 Aqua Logis�cs Ltd *  1 300 - 300 -
 Asian Electronics Ltd *  5 800 0.04 800 0.04
 Bharat NRE Coke Ltd *  10 3857 0.39 3857 0.39
 Crew B.O.S. Products Ltd *  10 900 0.09 900 0.09
 Edserv So�systems Ltd *  10 200 0.02 200 0.02

b.i    (Quoted, Non-trade Investments)
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
No of 

Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

No of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

F.V
(`)

 Elder Healthcare Ltd *  10 952 0.08 952 0.08
 Elder Pharmaceu�cals Ltd *  10 450 0.05 450 0.05
 Everonn Educa�on Ltd *  10 1200 0.12 1200 0.12
 Gitanjali Gems Ltd *  10 750 0.01 750 0.01
 Gujarat NRE Coke Ltd *  10 7812 0.78 7812 0.78
 Gujarat NRE Coke Ltd Class B NPP *  10 10920 0.10 10920 0.10
 IVRCL Ltd *  2 4700 0.02 4700 0.02
 Jupiter Bioscience Ltd *  10 500 0.02 500 0.02
 Kingfisher Airlines Ltd *  10 300 0.03 300 0.03
 Orbit Corpora�on Ltd *  10 400 0.04 400 0.04
 Parekh Aluminex Ltd *  10 150 0.02 150 0.02
 Shree Ganesh Jewellery House (I) Ltd *  10 3500 0.35 3500 0.35
 Surya Pharmaceu�cals Ltd *  1 1000 - 1000 -
 Tulip Telecom Ltd *  2 900 0.01 900 0.01
 UB Engineering Ltd *  10 500 0.05 500 0.05
 Varun Resources Ltd *  1 1200 0.01 1200 0.01
 Dion Global Solu�ons Ltd **  10 275 0.01 275 0.01
 Ortel Communica�ons Ltd  10 300 0.01 300 -
 Shree Ram Urban Infrastructure Ltd **  10 200 0.07 200 0.07
 Uniworth Tex�les Ltd **  10 500 0.02 500 0.02
 The Lakshmi Vilas Bank Ltd ***  10 625 0.05 625 0.05
  Total (b)  77590 10.87 77660 10.92
  Total (i=a+b)  109880 24.16 109880 24.21

*  Companies are under liquida�on.
** Companies are under Corporate Insolvency Resolu�on Process.
*** Company has been amalgamated with DBS Bank Ltd.

B.ii    Investments in shares of companies which are under liquida�on or Corporate Insolvency or 
Resolu�on Process are valued at rate reflec�ng in demat statement as available with the 
management.
       

CIN : L15142WB1984PLC037472  
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ii Preference Shares
 (Fully paid-up unless otherwise stated)
 (Unquoted, Non-trade Investments)
 Vedanta Ltd  10 4980 - 4980 -

  Total (ii)  4980 - 4980 -

iii Debentures
 (Fully paid-up unless otherwise stated)
 (Quoted, Non-trade Investments)
 NTPC Ltd SR-54 8.49 NCD 25Mar25  5 0 - 250 0.01 
  Total (iii)  0 - 250 0.01
  Total Gross (I = i+ii+iii)  114860 24.16 115110 24.22 

II Investment outside India   0 - 0 -
 Investment in India   114860 24.16 115110 24.22

 Total Gross II   114860 24.16 115110 24.22

III Less: Allowance for Impairment Loss   0 - 0 -

IV Total Net (IV = I - III)   114860 24.16 115110 24.22

 Aggregate market value of quoted investments    24.16  24.22
 Aggregate cost of quoted investments    29.97  30.19  
 Aggregate cost of unquoted investments    19.05  19.05  

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

F.V
(`)
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

5. Other Non-Current Financial Assets
 At amor�sed cost
 Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
 Security Deposit with Others    -  5.00  
     -  5.00  

6. Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabili�es) (Net)
 Property, Plant & Equipment    (234.31)  (217.41)  
 On Carry Forward Losses    -  12.72  
 Financial Assets - Investments through FVTPL    3.23  2.60  
 MAT Credit En�tlement    201.60  189.47 
     (29.48)  (12.62)  

6.1. Tax effects of items cons�tu�ng deferred tax assets / (liabili�es) 
 (Net) Property, Plant and  Equipment
 Opening Balance    (217.41)  (206.23)  
 Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss    (16.90)  (11.18)  
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income    -  -
 Closing Balance    (234.31)  (217.41)  

 On Carry Forward Losses
 Opening Balance    12.72  91.97  
 Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss    (12.72)  (79.25)  
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income    -  -  
 Closing Balance    (0.00)  12.72

 Financial Assets - Investments through FVTPL
 Opening Balance    2.60  (18.53)  
 Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss    0.63  21.13  
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income    -  -
 Closing Balance    3.23  2.60  

 MAT Credit En�tlement
 Opening Balance    189.47  168.58  
 Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss    12.13  20.89  
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income    -  -
 Closing Balance    201.60  189.47  

 Net deferred tax assets / (liabili�es) (Net)    (29.48)  (12.62)  
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7. Current Financial Assets - Trade Receivables
 Secured, considered good    -  -
 Unsecured, considered good    1,271.17  1,651.78  
 Unsecured, considered doub�ul    34.10  42.68  
     1,305.27  1,694.46
 Less: Allowance for doub�ul debts    34.10  42.68
     1,271.17  1,651.78

7.1. No trade or other receivables are due from directors or other officers of the company either severally 
or jointly with any other person.

 Trade receivables amoun�ng to ₹ 35.92 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 165.17 Lakhs) are due from enterprises over 
which KMP or rela�ves of exercise significant influence :

7.2. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.
7.3. Trade Receivables ageing schedule (Refer Note No. 33)

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Balance with Banks
 - Current Accounts    58.10  104.17  
 Cash on hand    7.36  11.55  
     65.46  115.72  

9. Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Other Bank Balances
 Fixed deposit with Banks - Having original maturity for   53.34  51.06  
 more than 12 months
 Fixed deposit with Banks - Having original maturity 3 to 12 months  9.16  8.59  
     62.50  59.65  

9.1. Fixed Deposit Receipts of ₹ 16.11 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 15.04 Lakhs) has been pledged with 
IndusInd Bank Ltd. for obtaining bank overdra� facility.

9.2 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 83.22 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 83.22 Lakhs) from 
IndusInd Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 19.24 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 18.76 
Lakhs) which has been given in favour of Brahmaputra Cracker & Polymer Ltd.

9.3 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 55 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 55 Lakhs) from IndusInd 
Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 9.42 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 8.78 Lakhs) which 
has been given in favour of JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

9.4 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 10 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 10 Lakhs) from IndusInd 
Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 2.19 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 2 Lakhs) which has 
been given in favour of Deepak Phenolics Ltd.

9.5 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 15 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 15 Lakhs) from IndusInd 
Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 0.58 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 0.58 Lakhs) which 
has been given in favour of HPCL Mi�al Energy Ltd.

9.6 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 5 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 5 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank 
Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 1 Lakh (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 1 Lakh) which has been 

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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given in favour of Commissioner, Excise, Department of Prohibi�on, Excise and Registra�on, 
Government of Bihar.

9.7 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 10 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 10 Lakhs) from IndusInd 
Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 2 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 2 Lakhs) which has 
been given in favour of Qwik Supply Chain (P) Ltd.

9.8 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 2 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 2 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank 
Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 0.40 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 0.40 Lakhs) which has 
been given in favour of Laxmi Organic Industries Ltd.

9.9 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 15 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 15 Lakhs) from IndusInd 
Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 3 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 3 Lakhs) which has 
been given in favour of HMEL Organics (P) Ltd.

9.10 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 5 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 5 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank 
Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 1 Lakh (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 1 Lakh) which has been 
given in favour of Marico Ltd.

9.11 The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 18.05 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 18.05 Lakhs) from 
IndusInd Bank Ltd against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 7.56 Lakhs (As at 31.03.24: ₹ 7.09 
Lakhs) which has been given in favour of Assam Petro Chemicals Ltd.

10. Other Current Financial Assets
 At amor�sed cost
 Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
 Security Deposit with Others    53.58  47.30  
 Reten�on Money    3.79  3.79  
 Interest accrued on Fixed Deposits    3.42  2.05  
 Interest accrued on Other Deposits    1.01  1.05
 Insurance Claim Receivables    3.06  -  
     64.86  54.19  

11. Current Tax Assets (Net)
 Balance with Revenue Authori�es (Net of Provision)   371.75  280.68  
     371.75  280.68  

12. Other Current Assets
 (Unsecured, considered good)
 Installments on Loan paid in advance    17.05  10.67  
 Advances for purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment   9.90  -  
 Party Advances    11.24  16.58  
 Staff Advances - KMP    -  0.17  
 Staff Advances - Others    1.45  1.32  
 Other Advances    44.49  31.44  
 Prepaid Expenses    96.18  82.21  
 GST Input credit not yet taken    2.50  11.62  
 (Unsecured, considered doub�ul)
 Staff Advances    0.10  0.41  
     182.91  154.42  

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

13. Equity Share Capital
a. Authorised Share Capital
 Ordinary Equity Shares of ` 10/- each   5300000 530.00 5300000       530.00
    5300000 530.00  5300000 530.00

b. Issued Share Capital
 Ordinary Equity Shares of ` 10/- each   5000000 500.00 5000000       500.00
    5000000 500.00 5000000 500.00

c. Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital
 Ordinary Equity Shares of ` 10/- each fully paid-up  4992300 499.23 4992300 499.23
    4992300 499.23  4992300 499.23

d. Reconcilia�on of the number of shares at the beginning
  and at the end of the year 
 
 Equity Shares
 At the beginning of the year   4992300 499.23 4992300 499.23
 Issued during the year   0 - 0 -
 Outstanding at the end of the year   4992300 499.23 4992300 499.23

e. Terms a�ached to equity shares
 
  The Company has only one class of Ordinary Shares having a par value of ₹ 10/- per share. Each holder of 

ordinary share is en�tled to one vote per share and is en�tled to dividend and to par�cipate in surplus, if 
any, in the event of winding up.

f.  Shareholding Pa�ern with respect of Holding or Ul�mate Holding Company
  The Company does not have any Holding Company or Ul�mate Holding Company.

g.  Details of Equity Shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

 Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd   915976 18.35% 915976 18.35% 
 Sanjay Jain   868532 17.40% 643912 12.90% 
 Shan� Lal Jain   54409 1.09% 279029 5.59% 
 Sangeetha S   606263 12.14% 606263 12.14% 

h. Aggregate number and class of shares allo�ed as fully paid up pursuant to contract(s) without payment 

being received in cash for the period of five years immediately preceding the date as at which the Balance 

Sheet is prepared - Nil

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

No. of 
Shares

Amount
(` Lakhs)

         Name of the Shareholder  s
No of 

Shares

% of
Holding

No of 
Shares

% of
Holding

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
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i.  No ordinary shares have been reserved for issue under op�ons and contracts/ commitments for the sale of 

shares/ disinvestment as at the Balance Sheet date.

j. No Ordinary Shares have been bought back by the Company during the period of 5 years preceding the date 

as at which the Balance Sheet is prepared.

k. No securi�es conver�ble into Equity/ Preference shares have been issued by the Company during the year.

l. No calls are unpaid by any Director or Officer of the Company during the year.

    . Disclosure of Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March, 2025 is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

 Sanjay Jain  868532 17.40% 643912 12.90% 4.50%

 Shan� Lal Jain  54409 1.09% 279029 5.59% -4.50%

 Sunita Jain  112748 2.26% 112748 2.26% 0.00%

 Gunmala Devi Jain  112045 2.24% 112045 2.24% 0.00%

 Santosh Devi Jain  57200 1.15% 57200 1.15% 0.00%

 Sanjay Jain (HUF)  43923 0.88% 43923 0.88% 0.00%

 Pankaj Jain  700 0.01% 700 0.01% 0.00%

 Shan� Lal Jain (HUF)  32001 0.64% 32001 0.64% 0.00%

 Rikhab Chand Jain (HUF)  30000 0.60% 30000 0.60% 0.00%

 Rikhab Chand Jain  10000 0.20% 10000 0.20% 0.00%

 Jyo� Jain  1800 0.04% 1800 0.04% 0.00%

 Virendra Jain  1000 0.02% 1000 0.02% 0.00%

 Amann Jain  100 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

 Siddhant Jain  100 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

 Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd  915976 18.35% 915976 18.35% 0.00%

Promoter Name

As at
 31.03.2025

As at
 31.03.2024

No. of
Shares

No. of
Shares

% of
total

shares

% of
total

shares

% Change
during

 the year

m
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

Disclosure of Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March, 2024 is as follows :   

 Sanjay Jain  643912 12.90% 639995 12.82% 0.08%

 Shan� Lal Jain  279029 5.59% 279029 5.59% 0.00%

 Sunita Jain  112748 2.26% 112748 2.26% 0.00%

 Gunmala Devi Jain  112045 2.24% 112045 2.24% 0.00%

 Santosh Devi Jain  57200 1.15% 57200 1.15% 0.00%

 Sanjay Jain (HUF)  43923 0.88% 43923 0.88% 0.00%

 Pankaj Jain  700 0.01% 700 0.01% 0.00%

 Shan� Lal Jain (HUF)  32001 0.64% 32001 0.64% 0.00%

 Rikhab Chand Jain (HUF)  30000 0.60% 30000 0.60% 0.00%

 Rikhab Chand Jain  10000 0.20% 10000 0.20% 0.00%

 Virendra Jain  1000 0.02% 1000 0.02% 0.00%

 Sulochana Jain  0 0.00% 500 0.01% -0.01%

 Jyo� Jain  1800 0.04% 500 0.01% 0.03%

 Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd.  915976 18.35% 745190 14.93% 3.42%

Promoter Name

As at
 31.03.2024

As at
 31.03.2023

No. of
Shares

No. of
Shares

% of
total

shares

% of
total

shares

% Change
during

 the year
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

14. Other Equity
a. Capital Reserve
 Balance at the beginning of the year   0.36  0.36
 Addi�on during the year    -  -
 Balance at the end of the year   0.36  0.36

b. Reserve Fund
 Balance at the beginning of the year   223.83  223.83
 Addi�on during the year   -  -
 Balance at the end of the year   223.83  223.83

c. Other Comprehensive Income
 Balance at the beginning of the year   1.50  1.60  
 Other Comprehensive Income for the year    (0.39)  (0.10)  
 Balance at the end of the year    1.11  1.50  

d. Retained Earnings
 Balance at the beginning of the year   1,092.19  1,005.95  
 Profit / (Loss) for the year   114.42  86.24  
 Balance at the end of the year   1,206.61  1,092.19  

  Total Other Equity (a+b+c+d)  1,431.91  1,317.88  

15. Non-Current Liabili�es - Borrowings
 At amor�sed cost
 Term Loans From Banks (Secured)   1,036.70  478.56  
    1,036.70  478.56  

15.1. Nature of Security and terms of repayment for Long Term Secured Borrowings have been given in 
Note No. 43.

15.2. Installments falling due in respect of all the above loans upto 31.03.2026 have been grouped under 
"Current Maturi�es of Long Term Debts" (Refer Note No. 16).

15.3. Maturity Profile of Borrowings - Term Loan
 In the first year (Refer Note No. 16)   552.44  502.07  
 Current maturi�es of long-term debt   552.44  502.07  
 In the second year   417.49  290.64  
 In the third to fi�h year   619.21  187.92  
 A�er five years   -  -
 Non-current borrowings   1,036.70  478.56  
 

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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16. Current Liabili�es - Borrowings
 At amor�sed cost
 Current Maturi�es of long term borrowings   552.44  502.07  
 Loan repayable on demand
 From Banks (Secured)   800.67  942.24  
    1,353.11  1,444.31  

16.1. The Company has availed cash credit facility and Bank Guarantee Limit with IndusInd Bank Ltd. and 
created first charge on all current assets of the company comprising of stock of raw material, WIP, 
Finished Goods, receivables, book debts and other current assets, on movable fixed assets of the 
company both present and future except other assets exclusively financed by other banks, and 
equitable mortgage value of office premises  of the Company, office premises of Inter State Capital 
Markets (P) Ltd (enterprise over which Directors and rela�ves of Directors having significant 
influence), and Fixed Deposit Receipt of ̀  16.11 Lakhs has been pledged with IndusInd Bank Ltd. and 
also the personal guarantee of Mr. Sanjay Jain, Director of the Company.

17. Current Financial Liabili�es - Trade Payables
 At amor�sed cost
 Total outstanding dues of creditors to micro enterprises      
 & small enterprises
 From Related Par�es   49.74  -
 From Others   41.49  32.43
 Total outstanding dues of creditor to other than micro 
 enterprises & small enterprises
      From Related Par�es   -  61.66  
      From Others   223.19  306.11  
             314.42  400.20  

17.1. Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006 (MSMED, 2006) have

a. Principal amount outstanding: ₹ 91.23 Lakhs (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ 32.43 Lakhs)

b. Interest due thereon: ₹ Nil (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ Nil)

c. Interest paid by the Company in terms of Sec�on 16 of MSMED 2006 alongwith amount of the 
payment made to the suppliers beyond the appointed day during the year: ₹ Nil (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ 
Nil)

d. Interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which has been paid but 
beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED 
2006: ₹ Nil (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ Nil)

e. Interest accrued and remaining unpaid: ₹ Nil (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ Nil)

f. Further interest remaining due and payable in the succeeding years: ₹ Nil (As at 31.03.2024: ₹ Nil)

17.2. Trade Payables ageing Schedule (Refer Note No. 34)

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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18. Other Current Financial Liabili�es
 At amor�sed cost
 Interest accrued   7.39  3.75  
    7.39  3.75  

19. Other Current Liabili�es
 Liabili�es for purchase of Property, Plant & Equipments  217.35  138.18  
 Payable to Key Managerial Personnel   3.29  1.09  
 Payable to Staffs   11.51  5.04  
 Other Payables
 To Rela�ves of Directors   0.18  -  
 To Others   10.89  5.95  
 Advance received from Customers
 From Others   2.47  1.23  
 Statutory Dues Payables   12.14  120.80  
    257.83  272.29  

20. Revenue from Opera�ons
 Sale of Services
      Freight Income   8,814.82  8,452.79 
 Other Opera�ng Income
      Shortage and Damage Recovered   -  20.80  
    8,814.82  8,473.59  

20.1. Freight Income includes income accrued but bill not raised of ₹ 231.86 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 200.75 Lakhs)
20.2. Freight Income includes income from export services of ₹ 65.56 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 54.92 Lakhs)
21. Other Income
 Interest Income
      on Fixed Deposits   4.47  2.92  
      on Other Deposits   4.39  3.97  
      on Income Tax Refund   6.52  7.48  
      on Non-Current Investments   -  -
 Dividend Income from Non-Current Investments   0.03  1.57  
 Net gain on Fair Value Changes of Investments   -  27.01  
 Profit in trading in Future & Op�on segment   -  2.43  
 Profit on sale of Property, Plant & Equipments   6.81  -  
 Provision for Doub�ul Debts Wri�en Back   8.58  -
 Other Non-Opera�ng Income
 Miscellaneous Income   10.62  5.74  
    41.42  51.12

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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22. Opera�ng Expenses
 Freight Paid   4,503.17  4,901.24  
 Running, Tyres & Taxes Expenses   3,267.12  2,552.12  
    7,770.29  7,453.36    

23. Employee Benefits Expense
 Salary & Bonus   137.33  120.96  
 Contribu�on to provident and other funds   9.42  7.45  
 Staff Welfare Expenses   11.06  14.00  
    157.81  142.41  

24. Finance Costs
 (At amor�sed cost)
 Interest Expenses
      on Bank Overdra� / Term Loan   81.90  68.06  
      on Loan from Bank   83.27  93.69  
      on Loan from Others   -  3.62  
      on Others   0.24  1.36  
 Other Borrowing Costs
      Loan Processing Fees   4.04  3.58  
      Bank Guarantee Commission   4.33  2.21  
    173.78  172.52  
25. Deprecia�on and Amor�sa�on Expense
 Deprecia�on of Tangible Assets   430.63  405.46  
 Amor�sa�on of Intangible Assets   2.71  1.84  
    433.34  407.30  
26. Other Expenses
 Rent Expenses   4.21  3.49  
 Insurance Expenses   1.20  1.23  
 Rates & Taxes   32.20  36.58  
 Bad Debts   2.87  14.67  
 Deduc�on Charges   16.42  -
 Dona�on   1.56  1.51  
 Net Loss on Fair Value Changes of Investments   0.04  -  
 Loss on discard of Property, Plant & Equipments   0.65  -  
 Loss on sale of Property, Plant & Equipments   -  20.68  
 Provision for Bad & Doub�ul Debts   -  8.89  
 Specula�on Loss   -  -  
 Miscellaneous Expenses   103.31  93.46  
 Director's Si�ng Fees   0.75  0.75  
 Payment to Auditor
 For Statutory Audit Fees   0.45  0.45
 For Tax Audit Fees   0.15  0.15
 In Other Capacity   1.31  1.67
    165.12  183.53

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

27. Tax Expense
 Current Tax
 Provision for Income Tax   24.62  20.90  
 Income Tax for Earlier Year   -  10.04  
    24.62  30.94  

27.1. The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the 
 accoun�ng profit as follows:
 Profit / (Loss) before tax   155.90  165.59  
 Applicable Tax Rate   16.69%  16.69%
 Expected Tax Expense (A)   26.02  27.64  
 Tax effect of amounts which are not deduc�ble / not 
 taxable in calcula�ng taxable income
 Adjustment of unrealised gain/loss   -  (8.25)        
 Expenses disallowed  / Non-deduc�ble Expenses   0.03  1.51 
 Others   (1.43)  -  
 Computed Tax Expense   24.62  20.90  
 Income Tax for Earlier Year   -  10.04  
 Current Tax Provision (A)   24.62  30.94  

 Incremental Deferred Tax Liability / (Assets)
 On account of Property, Plant & Equipment and 
 Other Intangible Assets   16.90  11.18  
 On account of Carry Forward Losses   12.72  79.25  
 On account of Financial Assets and Other Items   (0.63)  (21.13) 
 On account of MAT Credit En�tlement   (12.13)  (20.89) 
 Deferred tax Provision (B)   16.86  48.41  
 Tax Expenses recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss (A+B)  41.48  79.35  
 Effec�ve Tax Rate   26.61%  47.92% 

28. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
a. Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans  (0.47)  (0.12)  
    (0.47)  (0.12)  

 Income tax rela�ng to items that will not be
 reclassified to profit or loss

a. Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans  0.08  0.02  

    0.08  0.02  

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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29. Earnings per Share
 Nominal Value of Equity Shares (`)   10.00  10.00
 Profit/(Loss) a�ributed to the Equity shareholders of the   114.42  86.24  
 Company (` Lakhs)
 Weighted average number of equity shares   4992300  4992300
 Basic and diluted earnings per shares (`)   2.29  1.73  

 There are no dilu�ve equity shares in the Company.

30. Disclosures as per Sec�on 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013:

 Details of Investments made are given under the respec�ve heads.
 During the year, the Company has not granted any loans and advances (in the nature of loan).

31. Based on the informa�on available with the company, the balance due to Micro and Small 

enterprises, as defined under the Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 

(MSMED Act, 2006) is ₹ 91.23 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 32.43 Lakhs). Further, no interest during the year has been 

paid or payable under the terms of the MSMED Act, 2006. The above informa�on regarding Micro, 

Small and Medium Enterprises has been determined to the extent such par�es have been iden�fied 

on the basis of informa�on available with the Company. This has been relied upon by the Auditors.

32. SEGMENT REPORTING

  The Company does not have more than one reportable segment in line with the Indian Accoun�ng 

Standards ("Ind AS") during the year and hence, segment repor�ng is not applicable.

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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37. Ra�os Analysis and its elements

 As per the Schedule III of Companies Act, 2013 requirements, following ra�os are to be disclosed along 
with explana�on for those ra�os having variance of more than 25% as compared to preceding year.

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

Par�culars
As at

31.03.25
As at

31.03.24
%

change Reasons for variance

Current Ra�o [Current Assets / Current Liabili�es]  1.04 1.09 -4.59%

Debt-Equity Ra�o [Total Debt / Total Equity]
(Total Debt: Non-current borrowings + Current 
borrowings + Non-current and current lease 
liabili�es)
(Total Equity: Equity share capital + Other equity)

 1.24 1.06 16.98%

Debt Service Coverage Ra�o [Earning for Debt 
Service/{Finance costs + Scheduled principal 
repayments of non-current borrowings and lease 
obliga�ons (excluding prepayments) during the 
year}]
(Earning for Debt Service = Net Profit a�er taxes + 
Deprecia�on and other amor�za�ons + Finance 
costs - Provisions for Bad & Doub�ul Debts wri�en 
back + Provisions for Bad & Doub�ul Debts)

Return on Equity Ra�o [Net Profit a�er tax / 
Average Equity]
(Average Equity = (Opening + Closing total equity) 
/ 2)
(Total Equity: Equity share capital + Other equity)

Inventory Turnover Ra�o [Revenue from 
Opera�ons / Average Inventory]
(Average Inventory = (Opening + Closing 
Inventory)/2)

Trade Receivables Turnover Ra�o [Revenue from 
Opera�ons / Average Trade Receivables]
(Average Trade Receivables = (Opening + Closing 
Trade Receivables)/2)

Trade Payables Turnover Ra�o [Opera�ng 
Expenses / Average Trade Payables]
(Average Trade Payables = (Opening + Closing 
Trade Payables)/2)

 1.05 0.95 10.53%

  0.06 0.05   20.00%

    6.03 6.63  -9.05%

  21.75 22.34 -2.64%

-

N.A.   N.A.   N.A.

-

-

-

-

-

-
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Net Capital Turnover Ra�o [Revenue from 
Opera�ons / Working Capital]
(Working Capital = Current Assets - Current 
Liabili�es)

Net Profit Ra�o [Net profit a�er tax / Revenue 
from Opera�ons]

Return on Capital Employed [Earnings before 
interest and taxes / Capital Employed]
(Capital Employed: Tangible Net Worth + Total 
Debts + Deferred Tax Liabili�es)

Return on Investment [Income generated from 
invested funds / Average investment funds in 
investments]
Average investment funds in investments = 
(Opening + Closing Investments)/2)

     102.62 43.26 137.22%

 0.01 0.01 0.00%

      0.07 0.09 -22.22%

  - 0.18 -100.00%

Due to increase in 
revenue from opera-
�ons and decrease in 
working capital during 
the year.

Due to decrease in 
income generated 
from invested funds  
during the year.

Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other 
equity reserves a�ributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objec�ve of the Company’s 
capital management is to maximise the shareholder value. 

 The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
condi�ons and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 
shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ra�o, which is net debt divided by total capital plus 
net debt.

 The gearing ra�o at end of the repor�ng period was as follows:

Par�culars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

Gross Debt 2,389.81 1,922.87  

Cash and Marketable Securi�es 128.18 175.65  

Net Debt (A) 2,261.63 1,747.22  

Total Equity (As per Balance Sheet) (B) 1,931.14 1,817.11  

Net Gearing (A/B) 1.17 0.96  

Amount (` Lakhs)

-

-
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Notes to the Financial Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025

Par�culars
As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

Carrying
Amount

Carrying
Amount

Level of input used in Level of input used in
Level 1 Level 1Level 2 Level 2

Financial Assets
At Amor�sed Cost
Trade Receivables 1,271.17 - -  1,651.78 - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents 65.46 - - 115.72 - -
Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents 62.50 - - 59.65 - -
Other Financial Assets 64.86 - - 59.19 - -
At FVTPL
Investments 24.16 0.22 23.94 24.22 0.28 23.94
Financial Liabili�es
At Amor�sed Cost
Borrowings 2,389.81 - - 1,922.87 - -
Trade Payables 314.42 - - 400.20 - -
Other Financial Liabili�es 7.39 - - 3.75 - -

Fair Valua�on Measurement Hierarchy Amount (` Lakhs)

Note:

Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed 
equity instruments that have quoted price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are traded in the 
stock exchanges is valued using the closing price as at the repor�ng period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an ac�ve market are valued at rate 
reflec�ng in demat statement as available with the management or at cost as no informa�on is available 
with the management. 

ii. Foreign Currency Risk : N.A.

iii. Interest Rate Risk:

The following table shows exposure of the Company’s borrowings to interest rate changes at the end of 
the repor�ng period:

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

i Valua�on

 All financial instruments are ini�ally recognized and subsequently re-measured at fair value as 
described below:

a)  The fair value of investment in quoted Equity Shares is measured at rate reflec�ng in demat 
statement as available with the management.

b) The fair value of investment in unquoted Equity Shares is measured at rate reflec�ng in demat 
statement as available with the management or at cost as no informa�on is available with the 
management.

c) The fair value of the remaining financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow 
analysis.
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Loans are having interest rate from 7.16% p.a. to 9.52% p.a. (F.Y. 2023-24: 7.16% p.a. to 11% p.a.)

iv. Credit Risk:

 Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to perform or 
pay the amounts due, causing financial loss to the company. Credit risk arises from company’s 
ac�vi�es in investments and outstanding receivables from customers.

 The Company has a prudent and conserva�ve process for managing its credit risk arising in the 
course of its business ac�vi�es. Dues from customers to whom sales are made on credit are 
generally recovered within credit days allowed to the customer.

v. Liquidity Risk:

 Liquidity risk arises from the Company’s inability to meet its cash flow commitments on �me. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient stock of cash and marketable 
securi�es (₹ 128.18 Lakhs as on 31st March 2025; ₹ 175.65 Lakhs as on 31st March 2024). Company 
accesses financial markets to meet its liquidity requirements.

 The Company's liquidity is managed centrally with opera�ng units forecas�ng their cash and 
liquidity requirements. Treasury pools the cash surpluses from across the different opera�ng units 
and then arranges to either fund the net deficit or invest the net surplus in the market.

                                        Par�culars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

  Borrowings

  Long Term Borrowings 1589.14 980.63 

  Short term Borrowings 800.67 942.24  

  Total 2,389.81 1,922.87  

Amount (` Lakhs)

40.    Disclosures under Ind AS 19 (Employee Benefits)

         A.  Defined Contribu�on Plan

1 Contribu�on to Provident Fund  6.71 5.59 
2 Contribu�on to Employee State Insurance  0.08 0.20 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl
No.

      B. The company has adopted Projected Unit Credit Method for Gratuity. Every employee who has 
completed five years or more of services gets Gratuity on terms not lower than the amount payable 
under the Payment of Gratuity Act ,1972. The aforesaid scheme is funded with LIC. The liability of 
Gratuity is recognised on the basis of actuarial valua�on carried out by Dr. R. Kannan. The following 
table summarizes the components of net benefit expenses recognised in Statement of Profit & 
Loss, etc:

I Changes in Present Value of Obliga�on
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    1 Present value of obliga�on as on last valua�on  16.34 13.32 

    2 Current Service Cost  2.92 1.76 

    3 Interest Cost  1.12 0.93 

    4 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to  0.32 0.59 

 Change in Financial Assump�on

    5 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to  - 0.02 

 Change in Demographic

    6 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to Unexpected Experience 0.49 (0.28) 

    7 Benefits Paid  - -  

    8 Present value of obliga�on as on valua�on date 21.19 16.34 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl
No.

II    Changes in Fair Value of Plan Assets

   1 Fair value of Plan Assets at Beginning of period  20.69 14.89 

   2 Interest Income  1.42 1.04 

   3 Employer Contribu�ons  2.32 4.55  

   4 Benefits Paid  - - 

   5 Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income 0.34 0.21 

   6 Present value of obliga�on as on valua�on date 24.77 20.69 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

III     Reconcilia�on to Balance Sheet

   1 Fund Assets  24.77 20.69 

   2 Fund Liability  21.19 16.34 

   3 Funded Status  3.58 4.35 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

IV     Plan Assump�on

   1 Discount Rate  6.85% 6.97% 

   2 Expected Return on Plan Asset  6.85% 6.97% 

   3 Rate of Compensa�on Increase (Salary Infla�on) 7.00% 7.00%

   4 Average expected future service (Remaining working Life) 16 19 

   5 Average Dura�on of Liabili�es  16 19 

   6 Mortality Table  IALM 2012-15 IALM 2012-15

   Ul�mate Ul�mate 

   7 Superannua�on at age-Male  60 60

   8 Superannua�on at age-Female  60 60

   9 Early Re�rement & Disablement (All Causes Combined) 1% - 3% 1% - 3%

Par�culars 2024-25 2023-24Sl.
No.
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V     Expense recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss

   1 Current Service Cost  2.92 1.76 

   2 Past Service Cost  - -

   3 Net Interest Cost  (0.30) (0.11) 

   4 Benefit Cost (Expense recognized in Statement of Profit & Loss) 2.62 1.65 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

VI     Expense recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

   1 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to Change in  0.32 0.59 

 Financial Assump�on

   2 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to Change in Demographic - 0.02 

   3 Actuarial gain/loss on obliga�ons due to Unexpected Experience 0.49 (0.28) 

   4 Total Actuarial (gain)/losses  0.81 0.33 

   5 Return on Plan Asset, Excluding Interest Income 0.34 0.21 

   6 Balance at the end of the Period  0.47 0.12 

   7 Net(Income)/Expense for the Period Recognized in OCI 0.47 0.12 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

VII    Mortality Table

 25  0.000407

 30  0.000586

 35  0.000847

 40  0.001234

 45  0.001815

 50  0.002705

 55  0.004101

 60  0.006349

 65  0.009163

 70  0.016393

Mortality (Per Annum) Age
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VIII   Sensi�vity Analysis - Gratuity

 1 Discount Rate (-/+ 0.5%)  15.31 17.47

 2 %Change Compared to base due to  -6.326% 6.936%

 3 Salary Growth (-/+ 0.5%)  17.46 15.31

 4 %Change Compared to base due to  6.873% -6.328%

 5 A�ri�on Rate (-/+ 10%)  16.33 16.35

 6 %Change Compared to base due to  -0.078% 0.079%

 7 Mortality Rate (-/+ 10%)  16.34 16.34

  8 %Change Compared to base due to  -0.013% 0.013%

Par�culars Increase Decrease
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

2023-24

 1 Discount Rate (-/+ 0.5%)  19.91 22.59

 2 %Change Compared to base due to  -6.041% 6.627%

 3 Salary Growth (-/+ 0.5%)  22.58 19.91

 4 %Change Compared to base due to  6.561% -6.037%

 5 A�ri�on Rate (-/+ 10%)  21.16 21.21

 6 %Change Compared to base due to  -0.113% 0.114%

 7 Mortality Rate (-/+ 10%)  21.18 21.19

  8 %Change Compared to base due to  -0.015% 0.015%

Par�culars Increase Decrease
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

2024-25

IX     Cash Flow Informa�on

   1 Next Period Total (Expected)   24.64

   2 Minimum Funding Requirements   -

   3 Company's Discre�on   -

Par�culars
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.
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X     Benefit Informa�on Es�mated Future payments (Past Service)

   1 Period 1   0.73

   2 Period 2   0.17

   3 Period 3   0.17

   4 Period 4   0.15

   5 Period 5   4.07

   6 Period 6 to 10   9.57

   7 More than 10 periods   47.01

   8 Total Undiscounted Payments Past and Future Service    -

   9 Total Undiscounted Payments related to Past Service  61.89

  10 Less Discount For Interest   40.70

  11 Benefit Obliga�on   21.19

Par�culars
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

XI     Outlook Next Year Components of Net Periodic benefit Cost Next Period

   1 Current service Cost (Employer por�on Only) Next period  2.54

   2 Interest Cost next period   1.43

   3 Expected Return on Plan Asset   1.70

   4 Net Period Benefit Cost   2.27

Par�culars
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.

XII     Bifurca�on of Net liability

   1 Current Liability  0.71 0.15 

   2 Non Current Liability  20.48 16.19 

   3 Net Liability  21.19 16.34 

Par�culars
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sl.
No.
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41 Related Party Transac�on

 Related party disclosure as iden�fied by the management in accordance with the Indian Accoun�ng 
Standard (Ind AS) 24 on "Related Party Disclosures” and as per Sec�on 188 of the Companies Act' 
2013 are as follows:

A. Related party rela�onship

i. Key Managerial Personnel (KMP):

a. Sanjay Jain, Managing Director

b. Siddhant Jain, Whole Time Director (Appointed as Whole Time Director we.f. 02.05.2024)

c. Shan� Lal Jain, Whole Time Director (Resigned w.e.f. 30.04.2024)

d. Pooja Sarda, Independent Director (Re�red w.e.f. 31.03.2025)

e. Nand Kumar Bha�er, Independent Director

f. Sunil Shah, Independent Director

g. Malay Das, Chief Financial Officer

h. Rashmi Sharma, Company Secretary

ii. Rela�ves of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP):

a. Gunmala Devi Jain

b. Amann Jain

c. Siddhant Jain (Till 01.05.2024)

iii. Enterprises over which KMP or rela�ves of KMP exercise significant influence:

a. Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd

b. Inter State Liquid Logis�cs Ltd

c. Fluid Truckage (P) Ltd (Seized to a related party w.e.f 8th June, 2023).

Name of Related Party Nature of Transac�ons
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Shan� Lal Jain Director Remunera�on 1.70 19.64
Sanjay Jain Director Remunera�on 39.63 31.29
Siddhant Jain Director Remunera�on 13.92 -
 Freight and Running, 90.47 74.30
 Tyres & Taxes Expenses
Nand Kumar Bha�er Director Si�ng Fees 0.25 0.25
Pooja Sarda Director Si�ng Fees 0.25 0.25
Sunil Shah Director Si�ng Fees 0.25 0.25
Malay Das Salary & Bonus 8.24 7.43
Rashmi Sharma Salary & Bonus 6.80 5.42

B.  Transac�ons with Related Par�es:



C.i.    Amount due to Key Managerial Personnel:

iii.    Amount due to rela�ves of Key Managerial Personnel:

Name of the Party
As at 31.03.25 As at 31.03.24

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Gunmala Devi Jain  0.18 -

Inter State Liquid Logis�cs Ltd.  49.74 61.66

iv.    Amount due to enterprises over which KMP or rela�ves of KMP exercise significant influence:

v.    Amount due from enterprises over which KMP or rela�ves of KMP exercise significant influence:

Name of the Party
As at 31.03.25 As at 31.03.24

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)
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Name of Related Party Nature of Transac�ons
2024-25 2023-24
Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amann Jain Freight and Running, 84.58 72.63
 Tyres & Taxes Expenses
Gunmala Devi Jain Rent Expenses 2.40 2.40
Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd Freight Income 384.47 859.82
Inter State Liquid Logis�cs Ltd Freight and Running, 730.01 632.92
 Tyres & Taxes Expenses
 Freight Income 57.40 39.91
 Purchase of Property, Plant 8.00 -
 & Equipment (excl. GST)
Fluid Truckage (P) Ltd Freight and Running, - 8.41
 Tyres & Taxes Expenses

Name of the Party
As at 31.03.25

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Sanjay Jain  0.76 -
Malay Das  0.86 0.60
Rashmi Sharma  1.09 0.49
Nand Kumar Bha�er  0.25 -
Pooja Sarda  0.25 -
Sunil Shah  0.25 -

As at 31.03.24

Inter State Capital Markets (P) Ltd  24.92 161.55
Inter State Liquid Logis�cs Ltd  11.00 3.62

Name of the Party
As at 31.03.25 As at 31.03.24

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

D.    Provision to be made with regard to Outstanding Amount : ` Nil

ii.    Amount due from rela�ves of Key Managerial Personnel:

Name of the Party
As at 31.03.25 As at 31.03.24

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Amount
(` Lakhs)

Siddhant Jain  0.17 -
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42 Con�ngent Liabili�es (to the extent not provided for)

i) Bank Guarantee

a. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of `83.22 Lakhs (P.Y. `83.22 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd 
against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 19.24 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 18.76 Lakhs) which has been given in 
favour of Brahmaputra Cracker & Polymer Ltd.

b. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 55 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 55 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 9.42 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 8.78 Lakhs) which has been given in favour of JK 
Tyre & Industries Ltd.

c. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 10 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 10 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 2.19 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 2 Lakhs) which has been given in favour of 
Deepak Phenolics Ltd.

d. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 15 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 15 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 0.58 Lakh (P.Y. ₹ 0.58 Lakh) which has been given in favour of HPCL 
Mi�al Energy Ltd.

e. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 5 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 5 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 1 Lakh (P.Y. ₹ 1 Lakh) which has been given in favour of 
Commissioner, Excise, Department of Prohibi�on, Excise and Registra�on, Government of Bihar.

f. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 10 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 10 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 2 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 2 Lakhs) which has been given in favour of Qwik 
Supply Chain (P) Ltd.

g. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 2 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 2 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 0.40 Lakh (P.Y. ₹ 0.40 Lakh) which has been given in favour of Laxmi 
Organic Industries Ltd.

h. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 15 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 15 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 3 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 3 Lakhs) which has been given in favour of HMEL 
Organics (P) Ltd.

i. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 5 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 5 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd against 
pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 1 Lakh (P.Y. ₹ 1 Lakh) which has been given in favour of Marico Ltd.

j. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 18.05 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 18.05 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd 
against pledge of Fixed Deposit receipts of ₹ 7.56 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 7.09 Lakhs) which has been given in 
favour of Assam Petro Chemicals Ltd.

k. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 7.50 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 7.50 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd 
which has been given in favour of Indian Oil Corpora�on Ltd.

l. The Company has taken Bank Guarantee of ₹ 7.50 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 7.50 Lakhs) from IndusInd Bank Ltd 
which has been given in favour of Bharat Petroleum Corpora�on Ltd.

ii) Income Tax

a. The Company has received demand amoun�ng to ₹ 0.33 Lakhs from Income Tax Department rela�ng 
to assessment of T.D.S from F.Y. 2008-09, F.Y. 2023-24 and F.Y. 2024-25 against which Company will file 
necessary rec�fica�on within appropriate �me.

b. The company has received demand amoun�ng to ₹ 95.42 Lakhs from Income Tax Department rela�ng 
to A.Y. 2017-18 u/s 143(3) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 against which Company has filed an appeal with 
CIT (Appeal – 3), Kolkata. However, ₹ 96.95 Lakhs has been paid by the company against the said 
demand. The Company expects to sustain its posi�on on ul�mate resolu�on of the appeals.
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Nature of Security

Term Loan From Axis Bank Ltd.

Loan amoun�ng ₹ 480.44 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 38.81 Lakhs) 
from Axis Bank Ltd. is secured against 
hypotheca�on of Trucks.

Terms of Repayment

Repayable in 47 to 48 monthly installments 
commencing from November'  2021. Last 
installment due on February' 2029.

Term Loan From HDFC Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ 361.66 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ Nil) from HDFC 
Bank Ltd. is secured against hypotheca�on of Trucks.

Term Loan From ICICI Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ 173.76 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 399.40 
Lakhs) from ICICI Bank Ltd. is secured against 
hypotheca�on of Trucks.

Term Loan From HDFC Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ 9.72 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ Nil) from HDFC 
Bank Ltd. is secured against hypotheca�on of Car.

Term Loan From Kotak Mahindra Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ Nil (P.Y. ₹ Nil) from Kotak 
M a h i n d ra  B a n k  Ltd .  i s  s e c u re d  a ga i n st 
hypotheca�on of Car.

Term Loan From Yes Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ Nil Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 15.35 Lakhs) 
f ro m  Ye s  B a n k  Lt d .  i s  s e c u re d  a ga i n s t 
hypotheca�on of Trucks.

Term Loan From Yes Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ 11.12 Lakhs (P.Y. ₹ 25 Lakhs) 
from Yes Bank Ltd. is secured against crea�on of 
second charge on all exis�ng security in favour of 
Na�onal Credit Guarantee Trustee Company Ltd.

Term Loan From IndusInd Bank Ltd.
Loan amoun�ng ₹ Nil (P.Y. ₹ Nil) from Indusind Bank 
Ltd. is secured against hypotheca�on of assets as 
refer in Note 16.1.

Re p aya b l e  i n  4 6  m o n t h l y  i n s t a l l m e n t s 
commencing from July' 2024. Last installment due 
on August' 2028.

Repayable in 47 to 58 monthly installments 
commencing from December'  2021. Last 
installment due on April' 2028.

Re p aya b l e  i n  4 8  m o n t h l y  i n s t a l l m e n t s 
commencing from September' 2024. Last 
installment due on August' 2028.

Re p aya b l e  i n  6 0  m o n t h l y  i n s t a l l m e n t s 
commencing from June' 2019. Last installment due 
on May' 2024.

Repayable in 46 to 47 monthly installments 
commencing from May' 2021. Last installment due 
on May' 2025.

Repayable in 48 to 60 monthly installments 
commencing from September' 2020. Last 
installment due on June' 2027.

Re p aya b l e  i n  4 7  m o n t h l y  i n s t a l l m e n t s 
commencing from November'  2020. Last 
installment due on 31.10.2024.

    43. Nature of Security and Terms of Repayment for Long Term Secured Borrowings:
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    44. The figures for the previous year have been rearranged and/or regrouped wherever considered necessary.

Signature to Note 1 to 44
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